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Mission
To create a sustainable community for generations 
to come by delivering high-quality building solutions 
for the built environment.

Vision
To be a regionally recognized leader in the industry, 
delivering sustainable growth and inspiring passion 
and creativity.

Values

Integrity
We believe that integrity lies in delivering what we 
promise. We are respectful. We stand for equality, 
accessibility and are always accountable for our 
actions.

Commitment
We are diligent and sustainable when it comes to 
working together and building solutions as one team. 
We always consider the needs of others to create 
better environments for us all.

Transparency
We believe in honesty and openness when it comes 
to business and actions. We value collaborations that 
promote self-reflection and self-development. 

Excellence
We strive to achieve superior results and aim to 
provide solutions and quality products that create 
a sustainable way of living for all. We always reach 
further to do better.
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ACICO Industries Company (K.S.C.) is a public 
company and its subsidiaries (ACICO Group), 
is a multi-sectoral group located and based in 
Kuwait. With more than 25 years of experience 
across the region, ACICO established itself 
as market-leader in the manufacturing 
of building materials, as well as providing 
construction and engineering services, real 
estate development and management and 
hospitality.

ACICO Group
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 Years of Outstanding
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1990
Establishment of ACICO Industries Company 
in the State of Kuwait

1994

Successfully commissioned an Autoclaved 
Aerated Concrete (AAC) factory and kicked 
off production 

1997

Listing of ACICO Industries Company on 
Boursa Kuwait

2000
Commissioning of the second Autoclaved 
Aerated Concrete (AAC) factory in Kuwait

2002

Acquiring ACICO Construction Company 
(formerly Kuwait United Precast Systems 
Company)

2003

Establishing the Saudi Aerated Concrete 
Industries Company (LLC)

2005

Establishing a branch of the group in Dubai, 
United Arab Emirates 

2006
Establishing the Qatar Aerated Concrete 
Industries Company (LLC) in Qatar

2007

Opening of the first cement factory at Mina 
Abdullah, Kuwait

Opening of the Radisson Blu Resort in 
Fujairah, United Arab Emirates 

2008
Opening of ACICO Business Tower in Dubai, 
United Arab Emirates

2009

Opening of Nassima Tower (Commercial + 
Hotel Apartments)

Milestones
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2010
Upgrading ACICO Construction Company 
(KSC) to grade A at the Central Tenders 
Committee in Kuwait

Opening of VOCO Hotel(formerly JAL Hotel) 
in Dubai, United Arab Emirates

2013
Operating a second production line in Mina 
Abdullah factory, Kuwait

2014

Acquiring ACICO Industries for Precast & 
Construction (Previously known as Industrial 
Buildings and Constructions Company)

2015
Introducing new production lines to 
manufacture interlocking tiles and lines to 
produce steel cutting and bending services in 
Kuwait

2016
Commissioned third cement mill in Kuwait, 
and expanded production capacity of cement 
factory

2017
Inclusion of cement products in the list of 
government-subsidized materials and launch 
of ACICO Group brand

2018
Adding new cement packaging lines in Kuwait, 
opening a new production unit at the precast 
plant for the manufacturer of precast bridge 
segments in Kuwait

Forming a partnership with the Kuwait 
Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences 
(KFAS) to research the recycling of ready-mix 
concrete-waste in Kuwait

2019
Purchasing all of Aslan Real Estate Company’s 
shares and classifying ACICO Construction 
Company as a subsidiary

2020

Continued resilience in the face throughout 
the COVID-19 pandemic

2021
Market leadership reclaimed within our 
industries  after the crisis
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Dear  Colleagues,

First and foremost, I am delighted to welcome 
you all to our annual review of the most 
significant milestones our Company has 
achieved in 2021.

It is without a doubt that 2021 was filled with 
obstacles for all business sectors, both in 
Kuwait and internationally, stemming from 
the ongoing ramifications of the COVID-19 
pandemic. In light of these economic 
implications and exceptional circumstances, 
the mitigation of the pandemic’s 
consequences remained among ACICO’s top 
priorities; as well as the provision of liquidity 
through expense reduction and revenue 
preservation, while maintaining commitments 
with banks and creditors.

We are pleased to present the annual report 
for the year of 2021, and share with you 
the most significant developments and 
achievements ACICO has witnessed this year.

By the end of 2021, total shareholders’ equity 
decreased by 1.5 percent to reach KD 91 
million, compared to KD 92.5 million in 2020. 
The company was also able to maintain a 225 
Fills book value per share in 2021, as it was 
during the previous year. In light of the overall 
economic conditions in 2021, ACICO sought 
to mitigate the risks associated with these 
conditions, with total revenues amounting 
to KD 79 million, compared to KD 61 million 

reached in 2020. Net profits attributable to 
the parent company’s shareholders amounted 
to KD 205,219 in 2021, compared to the losses 
of KD 28,710,353 the year prior.

One of the primary reasons for these profits 
is the rise in industrial sector sales to KD 85 
million in 2021 from KD 58 million in 2020, 
along with an increase in real estate sector 
revenues to KD 4.3 million from KD 2.6 million, 
in Kuwait and internationally. Just as we did 
during the global economic crisis in 2008, we 
have successfully overcome this challenge, 
and ACICO emerged more robust than before. 
Inshallah, we will continue to strive to maintain 
ACICO’s success, reduce the Company’s risks, 
and improve its operations over the next few 
years.

The Board of Directors also proposed that 
shareholders receive no cash dividends for 
the fiscal year results. We further guarantee 
that all financial statements have been 
compiled in line with international standards 
and accurately represent ACICO’s financial 
position and the results of its operations for 
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021.

As I conclude this speech, on behalf of all the 
members of the Board of Directors and the 
Company’s employees, I would like to express 

Board of Director’s Report 
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my heartfelt gratitude and appreciation to 
our valued shareholders for their ongoing 
contributions to ACICO’s success, their 
support for the Board of Directors, and their 
trust in us. We promise to continue to honor 
our commitments to maximize your rights in 
the coming years.

On behalf of our valued shareholders, we 
would like to extend our heartfelt gratitude 
to all ACICO Group employees for their 
achievements in 2021. We encourage them 
to keep up the good work, and we wish them 
further successes in the future.

I am also pleased to express my heartfelt 
appreciation to His Highness the Emir of 
Kuwait, Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-
Sabah and His Highness the Crown Prince, 
Sheikh Mishaal Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-
Sabah. Furthermore, I would like to thank all 
government agencies and regulatory bodies 
for their ongoing support of Kuwait’s industrial 
sector in our beloved State of Kuwait.

May Allah’s Peace Mercy and Blessings Be 
Upon You.

Chairman of Board of Directors

Mazen Saad Al - Nahedh
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Mazen Al-Nahedh
Chairman

 Chairman of the Nomination &
Remuneration Committee

Ahmed Al-Khaled
Vice Chairman

Ghaida Al-Khaled
Executive Member

Basel Al-Nafisi
Independent Member

Ahmad Al-Refaee
Non-Executive Member

Haitham Al-Khaled
Non-Executive Member

Emad Al-Issa
Non-Executive Member

 Chairman of the risk management
committee

Manaf Al-Hajri
Independent Member

Chairman of the Audit committee

Board of Directors



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

30



31

Executive 
Management

Fawaz Majed Al-Bader

Group Chief Executive Officer

Ahmed Ghassan Al-Khaled

Deputy CEO 

Ghaida Ghassan Al-Khaled

Deputy CEO

Hazem Abdulrahman Al-Sharif

Chief Operating Officer Factories
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Notable achievementsof ACICO Group’s 
sectors:

ACICO Industrial Sector:
ACICO Industrial succeeded in maintaining 
its market leadership with its selection of 
high quality building material and industrial 
products. This was shown in the growth in sales 
achieved throughout 2021, which indicated 
the start of the economy’s recovery, and the 
company overcoming the ramifications of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The Industrial Sector 
continued to cover the various needs of the 
market and provide high quality construction 
materials to meet the growing demand 
presented by the rapid development of the 
construction sector in the state of Kuwait.

ACICO Construction Sector
Despite the challenges posed by the COVID-19 
pandemic in 2021, ACICO Construction 
has continued to successfully serve its 
clientele, maintaining its quality delivery with 
notable achievements across its disciplines. 
Recognized for providing innovative and 
sustainable solutions within the industrial 
and construction fields, ACICO Construction 
succeeded in delivering a myriad of large-scale 
projects locally and overseas according to the 
highest local and international standards. 

In 2021, the Company managed to effectively 
deliver more than 100 villas across Kuwait 
within the agreed-upon timeframe and 
budget. In terms of regional performance, 
ACICO Construction signed a contract with 
the Ministry of Housing in the Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia to design and construct a massive 
multi-phase housing project in the Al-Asdaf 
area. The project included the implementation 
of 123 villas with the exclusive ACICO system 
and further comprised commercial and 
service complexes that fulfill all of the Gulf 
community’s modern civic life requirements.

ACICO Home Sector
Continuing to implement its local customer 
focused strategy and utilizing its vertically 
integrated business model to offer its 
integrated consulting and construction 
services through six industrial and 
construction sectors, ACICO Homes was able 
as a one-stop-shop to successfully fulfill 
the continuous demands for its end-to-end, 
hassle-free, and high-quality services in the 
local market. 

During 2021, the Company delivered more 
than 107 villas in different parts of Kuwait, 
with 40% attributed to 50 residential villas in 
the Al Mutlaa area, and 19% attributed to 18 
chalets across Al Khiran and Bnaider.

ACICO Cement  Sector
ACICO Group continues to expand and 
modernize its vast factory chain to boost 
production capacity and improve product 
quality. By the end of 2021, ACICO Cement 
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succeeded in commissioning its fourth 
cement grinding line, with a total capacity 
of 150 MTPH to increase the daily overall 
production capacity to 10,500 MTPD. The 
increase in capacity will enable ACICO to 
efficiently pump 3,000,000 MT of cement 
into the Kuwait market each year, meeting the 
increasing demand for the Company’s various 
cement products. ACICO Cement takes pride 
in the quality of its products and services, with 
its recent fourth mill incorporating the latest 
cement industry technologies required for 
continuous and accurate assurance of the final 
product’s quality, manufactured according to 
the highest local and international standards 
and as per top-level quality and durability 
specifications.

ACICO Ready Mix Concrete  
Sector
ACICO’s ready-mix sector successfully 
established two batching plants in Mutlaa area, 
each with a production capacity of 120 cubic 
meters per hour. The project was achieved to 
facilitate a better, faster, and smoother service 
for its customers’ private housing projects in the 
new Al-Mutlaa City. The sector is also currently 
working on constructing two additional central 
mixers of 120 cubic meters per hour within the 
same area, including the addition of 29 mobile 
mixers and two ready-mix pumps, as part of the 
sector’s ongoing efforts to broaden the range 
of services available, as well as provide rapid and 
efficient services to its Kuwaiti market clients.

ACICO  Interlock  Sector
Renowned for providing the broadest range 
of high-quality interlock tiles with the highest 
durability of components and dyes, ACICO 
Interlock sector has been a key player in 
major projects for the Public Authority for 
Housing Welfare and the Ministry of Public 
Works in Kuwait. The sector successfully 
paved key residential communities from 2015 
to 2022, including Sabah Al Ahmad City and 
West Abdullah Al Mubarak, while contributing 
significantly to the paving of the Seventh 
Ring Road, As well as the New Airport Project 
Block work.

ACICO Real Estate Sector
ACICO Real Estate has long been considered 
a key player in the industry on a regional level, 
delivering high quality property solutions 
and successfully meeting its client’s business 
requirements. As the real estate arm of the 
Group, the Company specializes in owning, 
developing, and managing real estate 
properties across the GCC.

ACICO Real Estate’s performance in 2021 
was reflected on the success voco Dubai’s 
achieved over the past year. With the tourism 
landscape in the UAE undergoing a significant 
shift, its hospitality market has shown 
tremendous resilience - and voco Dubai was 
able to share in this success. voco’s generated 
revenues established a firm base to achieve 
the Company’s growth target for the full year, 
with a progressive increase that was witnessed 
throughout January and February. The hotel 
also witnessed phenomenal successes in 
other aspects, including successes in revenue 
generation per available room (RevPAR) and 
its average daily rate (ADR) according to 
season, along with consistent occupancy 
growth month-on-month.
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Recognizing the importance of adhering to 
the rules of governance, its essential role 
and related practices, and its belief in the 
existence of an appropriate and effective 
corporate governance system is crucial to the 
Board of Directors of ACICO Industries (“the 
Company”) as it boosts the confidence of 
shareholders, investors, and all stakeholders 
by monitoring the performance of the Board 
of Directors committees and adhering to 
the corporate governance regulations and 
systems issued by the Capital Markets 
Authority (“the Authority”). The Company is 
committed to adhering to all relevant rules 
and regulations, including those issued by 
the Capital Markets Authority, the Ministry 
of Commerce and Industry, and other 
supervisory and regulatory authorities. The 
Company shall update its internal systems 
and regulations according to legislative 
and regulatory developments and market 
demands to achieve the Company’s and 
shareholders’ interests.

One of the main pillars for implementing 
the Company’s operation is enhancing 
the Company’s culture of professional 
behavior and ethical values. As a result, the 
Company emphasizes the need to verify all 
of its workers’ adherence to the Company’s 
internal policies, regulations, and legal and 
control requirements, whether members of 
the Board of Directors, top management, or 
employees. This is achieved by implementing 
and adhering to the work and ethics charter 
and the mechanisms used to reduce conflicts 
of interest, ensuring the protection and 
recognition of stakeholders’ rights, and 
encouraging them to pursue the Company’s 
various activities.

Introduction
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Brief on the composition of the 
Board of Directors, as follows: 
The formation of the Board was characterized 
by a structure that goes with the Company’s 
nature and activity, bearing in mind that the 
majority of the Board’s members are non-
executive members. The Board also includes 
a sufficient number of members to match 
the number of committees emanating from 
it. The Board of Directors’ committees consist 
of the Nominations and Remunerations 
Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Risk 
Management. Each one of these committees 
has charters and regulations that define its 
field of work, powers, responsibilities and 
duties. The Board consists of six members 
who were elected by the Company’s general 
assembly for a period of three years. 

The structure of the Board, collectively, is 

characterized by the diversity of expertise, 
qualifications and knowledge in the sector 
in which the Company operates, including 
knowledge of legal aspects, governance, 
internal control, risk management, financial 
and economic management, and strategic 
planning. 

Rule One: Construct a Balanced Board 
Composition
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Name

Member’s 
Classification 

(Executive / 
Non-Executive 

/ Independent), 
Secretary

Academic Qualification and Work 
Experience

Date of 
Election/

Appointment 
of the 

General 
Secretary

Mr. Mazen Saad 
Al-Nahedh

Chairman of Board of 
Directors

1. Graduated from California State 
University, Majoring in Business 
Administration (Finance).

2. He obtained a general management 
program and many courses and programs 
at Harvard University, as well as a number 
of specialized professional certificates. 
He has a diversified banking experience of 
more than 27 years, including many banking 
activities related to corporate finance, 
retail banking, treasury work, and asset and 
liability management for banks according to 
regulatory and administrative requirements, 
monitoring and analyzing the movement of 
markets, capital and currencies, and monetary 
policy developments and their repercussions.

30/5/2021

Mr. Ahmed 
Ghassan Al-
Khaled

Executive Vice 
President of the 
Industrial Sector
Board Member

1. Bachelor of Civil Engineering from George 
Washington University, USA.

2. Masters in Engineering Management, 
George Washington University.

3. MBA from Thunderbird University, Arizona.

4. More than 15 years of experience in the 
construction field.

30/5/2021

The table below shows the qualifications and practical experience of the members of 
the Board of Directors and the date of their election. 



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

42

Ms. Ghaida 
Ghassan 
Al-Khaled

Board Member 
- Strategic 
Planning 
Executive Vice 
President 

1. Bachelor of Science, Civil Engineering, Kuwait 
University 1998. 

2. MBA, Thunderbird University, Arizona.

3. Member of Kuwait Society Of Engineers.

4. More than 20 years of experience in the contracting 
field.

30/5/2021

Mr. 
Haitham 
Suleiman 
Al-Khaled

Board Member - 
Non-Executive 

1. Electrical engineering graduate from Kuwait 
University in 1985.

2. Appointed CEO of Zain’s Middle East operations, 
specifically in Iraq, Bahrain, Jordan, Lebanon, and 
Sudan.

3. Since graduating in 2011, Al-Khaled worked in the 
Mobile Communications Company, where he held 
technical and leadership positions, starting with 
managing mobile communications network projects 
through managing the marketing and business 
development team, then leading the team responsible 
for Zain’s acquisitions and expansion, which was a 
crucial element in its transition from local to global, 
with more than 70 million customers in 23 countries.

4. He is passionate about educating and motivating 
young leaders and has hands-on expertise in leading 
change, strategic planning, and corporate governance.

30/5/2021

Mr. Emad 
Abdullah 
Al-Issa

Board Member - 
Non-Executive

1. Bachelor of Business Administration, California 
Polytechnic University, California, USA, 1985.

2. Strategic visionary with a consistent track record 
of generating exceptional results in profitability, 
operating performance, and revenue, as well 
as expertise in deal management, mergers and 
acquisitions, corporate sales and takeovers, financial 
analysis, and corporate restructuring.

30/5/2021
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Mr. Emad 
Abdullah Al-
Issa

Board Member - 
Non-Executive

3. Served on several boards in various industries, 
including investing, real estate, and hospitality.

4. CEO of  Kuwait Real Estate Company.

5. Former General Manager of Aqar Real Estate 
Investments Company.

6. Former Vice President of Asset Management at 
Gulf Capital Group.

7. Former Director of the Kuwait Real Estate 
Company’s Investment Department.

8. Former investment analyst for Kuwait Pearl Real 
Estate Company.

30/5/2021

Mr. Ahmed 
Faisal Al-Rifai

Board Member - 
Non-Executive 

1. Bachelor’s degree in Economics - California State 
University, Dominguez Hills - USA.

2. He started his career in London, UK, where he held 
several positions  in the asset management division 
of Ahli United Bank (AUB), ranging from economic 
assistant to portfolio manager in charge of US$2 
billion in stock and bond portfolios.

3. He relocated to Kuwait and works in the investment 
and real estate industries. 

4.  He has 30 years of expertise in the industrial, real 
estate, investment, and banking sectors.

30/5/2021

Mr. Manaf 
Abdulaziz Al-
Hajeri

Board Member - 
Independent

1. Al Hajeri holds a Master’s and Bachelor’s degree 
in Civil Engineering from Kuwait University with 
distinction and a Certified Financial Manager (CFM) 
certificate from the Institute of Management 
Accountants (IMA) from the United States of America.

30/5/2021
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Mr. Manaf 
Abdulaziz Al-
Hajeri

Board Member - 
Independent

2. Former CEO of the Kuwait Financial Center 
Company, Vice President in the Investment 
Department, and an assistant advisor in the 
Operations Department of the Kuwait Fund for Arab 
Economic Development.

3. Former  member of a number of boards of directors 
in oil and gas, education, finance, leasing, unions, and 
public benefits associations.

4. Al-Hajeri was awarded the French National Order 
of Merit with the rank of Knight by decree of the 
President of the Republic of France. 

5. He is fluent in several languages, including English, 
French, Spanish and Turkish.

30/5/2021

Mr. Basil 
Abdullah Al-
Nafisi

Board Member - 
Independent

1. Al – Nafisi holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business 
Administration specializing in Business Information 
Technology from the American University in 
Washington, DC.

2. Al-Nafisi has over 17 years of professional, 
executive, and strategic expertise in the fields of 
investment, banking, and real estate development. 
He has completed several programs and acquired 
numerous credentials in leadership, corporate finance, 
risk management, and money laundering from the 
Institute of Banking Studies and Harvard Business 
School. 

3. Former board member of Global Cities Real Estate 
Company.

30/5/2021
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Mr. Moataz 
Taher Al-
Jazzar

Secretary of 
the Board of 
Directors

1- Bachelor’s degree in Law from the University of 
Algiers.

2-  Holder of the Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorist 
Financing (ICA) Certificate.

3- Certified Compliance Officer (ICA) with 20 years 
of experience in law and 12 in regulatory compliance.

4-  Holder of the CCGO corporate governance officer 
certificates.

5- 20 years of experience in law and 12 in regulatory 
compliance.

30/5/2021
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The Company’s Board of Directors meetings during the year 2021

Meeting Number
No

1 
No

2
No

3
No

4
No

5
No

6
No

7

Meeting’s Date

3/
3/

20
21

31
/3

/2
0

21

22
/4

/2
0

21

9/
5/

20
21

11
/5

/2
0

21

27
/5

/2
0

21

30
/5

/2
0

21

 Member’s Name and Description

 Mr. Mazen Saad Al-Nahedh - Chairman of the Board of Directors  Before the election 

 Mr. Ahmed Ghassan Al-Khaled -Vice Chairman and Executive Vice

President
      

 Ms. Ghaida Ghassan Al-Khaled - Member of the Board of Directors

and Executive Vice President
Before the election 

 Mr. Haitham Suleiman Al-Khaled - Non-Executive Board Member Before the election 

Mr. Emad Abdullah Al-Issa - Non-Executive Board Member Before the election 

 Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajri - Independent Board Member Before the election 

Mr. Ahmed Faisal Al Rifai - Non-Executive Board Member       

Mr. Basel Abdullah Al-Nafisi - Independent Board Member       

A summary of how to apply the requirements of registration and coordination and 
keeping the minutes of meetings of the Board of Directors of the company.

The Secretary of the Board, who was appointed on May 30, 2021, is entrusted with maintaining and 
coordinating the minutes of the Board of Directors’ sessions. The Secretary of the Board of Directors 
established a special register, where the minutes of the meetings are recorded in sequential numbers 
for the year, indicating the location, date, start, and finish time of each session. In addition, the 
Secretary of the Board has compiled minutes of discussions and deliberations, and files have been 
preserved electronically for convenient reference.
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No
8

No
9

No
10

No
11

No
12

No
13

No
14

No
15

No
16

Total

4/
7/

20
21

12
/8

/2
0

21

26
/8

/2
0

21

22
/9

/2
0

21

10
/1

0/
20

21

13
/1

0/
20

21

31
/1

0/
20

21

24
/1

1/
20

21

15
/1

2/
20

21

          10

         16

         10

         10

         10

         10

         16

         16

An acknowledgement by the independent member that the controls of independence 
are available. A copy of the acknowledgement shall be attached to the report.

On May 30, 2021, the members of the Board of Directors elected Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri and 
Mr. Basil Abdullah Al-Nafisi as independent members at the Nomination Committee meeting No. 
1/2021 on 30/05/2021. The independent member’s declaration was signed, confirming they fulfill the 
independence criteria (attached below).
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Brief on how the company defines the policy 
of the tasks, responsibilities, and  duties of 
each of the Members of the Board of Directors 
and executive management members, as well 
as the powers and authorities delegated to 
the executive management.

The Board of Directors must strike a balance 
between accomplishing the Company’s 
strategic goals and the objectives of 
shareholders and stakeholders while ensuring 
that senior management performs all 
responsibilities assigned to them optimally. 
Accordingly, the Board of Directors authorized 
the Nomination Committee’s tasks and 
responsibilities for each director and executive 
management member, reflecting the Board’s 
and Executive Management’s power balance 
and separation. 

 

Achievements of the Board of 
Directors during the year.

1. Aligning the Company’s human capital with its 

objectives and strengthening it with national cadres

One of the most essential investments the 
Company wants to cultivate and preserve at 
the highest levels is the human element. In 
2021, the Company was able to restructure, 
activate, and create a group of departments 
in its quest to increase the efficiency and 

effectiveness of all companies, maintain a 
high level of transparency, and keep pace with 
market growth. The biggest restructuring  was 
appointing the Group Chief Executive Officer 
and Group Chief Financial Officer.

2. Reviewing the Group’s activities and operational 
and financial performance: 

The Board of Directors has investigated the 
extent to which the Company’s products 
meet the needs of the local and Gulf markets, 
as well as the possibility of expanding the 
Company’s production lines or identifying 
markets with higher revenue efficiency and 
lower expenses for all materials manufactured 
in the Company’s factories to keep up with the 
new projects that have been launched. This 
is in light of its quest to enhance its market 
share and capitalize on market opportunities.
That decision was made after the Company 
experienced increased sales across all 
sectors, with factory productivity reaching 
its maximum capacity and the emphasis of 
business and investment and the restructuring 
of the Company’s assets in Kuwait. 

Rule Two: Establish Appropriate Roles and 
Responsibilities
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3. Strengthening the rules of governance in 
accordance with regulatory requirements and best 
practices, through the Board of Directors and its 
policies, executive management, employees and 
other stakeholders

Given ACICO Industries’ commitment to 
supporting the principle of transparency and 
preserving stakeholders’ rights and involvement 
in the Company’s growth objectives, the 
Company has worked to build a foundation of 
“governance policy,” in which it has placed a set of 
standards to preserve the rights of stakeholders 
by activating channels of communication and 
disclosure where shareholders, investors, and all 
stakeholders can keep pace with the Company’s 
developments with impartiality, transparency, 
and justice. This is to ensure the consolidation 
of the values of transparency and justice and to 
achieve the Company’s and stakeholders’ goals. 
The company is also eager to foster a culture of 
governance and practices among its employees 
at all levels.

4.  Sustainability and the preservation of the rights of 

stakeholders

The Company is built on a solid foundation 
of operational assets, allowing it to achieve 
sustainable returns, particularly through the 
optimal provision of incentives and projects 
scheduled for completion, such as Kuwait 
Vision 2035, a strategic plan for infrastructure, 
the oil sector, and other projects in Kuwait.  
The Company is re-examining the local Gulf 
markets to focus on ensuring high returns and 
lower costs to maximize shareholders’ rights, 

maximize company assets, and contribute to 
the sustainability of the national economy by 
accelerating the wheel of urban development 
while creating jobs for youth and preserving the 
environment.

Additionally, the Company is working to stabilize 
and strengthen the Group’s financial basis in 
the medium and long term and focusing on 
improving the Group’s financial structure with 
banks and other stakeholders, such as advisers. 

5.  Group-level risk analysis and activation of internal 

control mechanisms.

The Board of Directors reviewed the Company’s 
organizational structure and evaluated the 
departments’ performance. Thus, the Board of 
Directors rebuilt the Company’s organizational 
structure based on the nature of the Company 
and its various operations while reinforcing, 
drafting, and approving the principle of internal 
control. This, in turn, ensured the principle of 
internal control on the one hand, and on the 
other, provides the mechanisms of conducting 
business optimally.
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Board of Directors

 Risk Management
Committee

Mr. Mazen Saad Al-Nahedh
   )Chairman of the Committee(

 Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri
 )Member of the Committee(

 Mr. Basil Abdullah Al-Nafisi
 )Member of the Committee(

Mr. Emad Abdullah Al-Essa
 )Chairman of the Committee( 

Mr. Haitham Suleiman Al-
Khaled
 )Member of the Committee(

Ms. Ghaida Ghassan Al-Khaled
)Member of the Committee( 

 Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri
 )Chairman of the Committee(

 Mr. Emad Abdullah Al-Essa
 )Member of the Committee(

 Mr. Ahmed Faisal Al-Rifai
 )Member of the Committee(

 Nomination and
 Remuneration

Committee
Audit Committee

Formation of the Board’s Committees :
The Board of Directors has constituted sub-committees to ensure that duties are 
carried out to the highest standards.

• Audit  Committee: 
Date of Formation and Duration of the 
Committee:

The Audit Committee was formed on 
30/05/2021 for a period of 3 years.

• Committee Members: 
• Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri (Chairman 

of the Committee)   
• Mr. Emad Abdullah Al-Issa
• Mr. Ahmed Faisal Al-Rifai

Tasks and achievements of the 
Audit Committee in 2021

The Committee made many achievements 
during the year 2021. The most important 
achievements of the Committee included 
the following:

1. A comprehensive and direct review of all 
internal control procedures for the Group’s 
companies, sectors and operations.

2. Verifying the internal audit framework 
based on the Company’s risks.



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

54

In 2021, the Committee held (12) meetings, 
as shown in the table below:    

 Number of meetings held by the
Committee during 2021

Meeting’s Number Meeting’s Date

)1/2021( 31/3/2021

)2/2021( 11/5/2021

)3/2021( 6/ 7/2021

)4/2021( 3/8/2021

)5/2021( 12/8/2021

)6/2021( 16/8/2021

)7/2021( 24/8/2021

)8/2021( 26/9/2021

)9/2021( 13/10/2021

)10/2021( 10/11/2021

)11/2021( 2/12/2021

)12/2021( 15/12/2021

3. Preparing a comprehensive analysis to 
assess the shortcomings of internal audit, 
studying the best proposed strategies to 
address them according to best practices and 
formulating strategic alternatives to address 
shortcomings.

4. Seeking the assistance of a consulting 
body specialized in internal auditing, after 
soliciting offers addressed to 9 prestigious 
companies in this field.

5. Coordinating with the Risk Committee in 
order to prepare a report on the risk trend 
facing the Company and to determine the 
acceptable levels of risks in the Company and 
its subsidiaries.

6. Developing a large-scale internal audit 
work plan for a period of 3 years to cover all 
sectors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

7. Updating all current policies and 
procedures of the Company to meet the 
current challenges in accordance with best 
practices.

8. Restructuring the internal audit 
department and building its capabilities 
to enable the department to work more 
effectively to meet all challenges.

9. Conducting a direct strategic audit by the 
Committee on vital departments of the Group 
including human resources, information 
technology, compliance, legal, public relations 
and finance.
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• Risk  Management 
Committee:

Date of Formation and Duration of the 

Committee: 

The Risk Management Committee was 
formed on 30/5/2021, and its term of office 
extends for 3 years.

• Committee Members: 
• Mr. Emad Abdullah Al-Essa (Chairman of 

the Committee) 
• Ms. Ghaida Ghassan Al-Khaled
• Mr. Haitham Suleiman Al-Khaled  

Tasks and achievements of the Risk 
Management Committee during the 
year 2021: 

In 2021, the Committee attained many 
accomplishments including the following:

1. Adopting the organizational structure for 
risk management.

2. Approving the job description, tasks and 
responsibilities of risk management.

3. Adopting risk management policies.

4. Approving risk management strategy and 
reports.

5. Completing the risk management’s action 
plan for the year 2022.

6. Discussing and amending the Group’s risk 
management reports.

7. Contracting with a consulting firm 
(Protiviti) to monitor the efficacy of the 
current system, indicating the locations 
of defects in departments, and upgrading 
risk management to ensure that required 
processes are followed.

8. Conducting a self-evaluation of the Risk 
Management Committee’s activities in order 
to assess performance levels and evaluate 
the Committee’s effectiveness

 Number of meetings held by the
Committee during 2021

Meeting’s Number Meeting’s Date

)1/2021( 2/6/2021

)2/2021( 29/6/2021

)3/2021( 27/ 7/2021

)4/2021( 19/8/2021

)5/2021( 18/10/2021

)6/2021( 7/11/2021

)7/2021( 14/11/2021

)8/2021( 9/12/2021
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• Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee:  

Date of Formation and Duration of 
the Committee: 

The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee was established on 30/5/2021 
and with  a 3-year tenure. 

• Committee Members: 
• Mr. Mazen Saad Al-Nahedh (Chairman of 

the Committee) 
• Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri
• Mr. Basil Abdullah Al-Nafisi

Tasks and achievements of the 
Nomination and Remuneration  
Committee during the year 2021: 

In 2021, the Committee attained many 
accomplishments including the following:

1. Nominating Board of Directors members 

2. Recruiting and appointing Mr. Fawaz Al-
Badr as CEO

3. Recruiting and appointing Mr. Sonal Gupta 
as Chief Financial Officer of the Group

4. Approving the duties and responsibilities 
of the members of the Board of Directors

5. Approving the evaluation mechanisms 
of the Board of Directors, the committees 
emanating from the Board, and the members 
of the Board.

 Number of meetings held by the
Committee during 2021

Meeting’s Number Meeting’s Date

)1/2021( 30/5/2021

)2/2021( 7/6/2021

)3/2021( 17/6/2021

)4/2021( 1/8/2021

)5/2021( 25/11/2021

)6/2021( 7/12/2021

6. Reviewing and adjusting the organizational 
structure in line with the Group’s business 
model.

7. Reviewing and amending the Group’s work 
charters and policies that would activate the 
organizational structure.

A summary of how to apply the 
requirements that allow the Members 
of the Board of Directors to obtain 
accurate and timely information and 
data.

The Company ensures the timely delivery 
of all information and data required by the 
Board of Directors through the periodic 
reports system. The CEO serves as a liaison 
between the Board of Directors, senior 
management, and all workers, guaranteeing 
comprehensive and accurate information.
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Rule Three: Recruit Highly Qualified Candidates 
for Members of a Board of Directors and the 
Executive Management
Brief about the application of the formation requirements of the nominations and 
remunerations committee.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was formed from three members, one of whom is an 
independent board member, and its chairman is a non-executive board member.

Report on the remunerations to the Members of the Board of Directors, the 
Executive Management and the managers, provided that it shall include the 
following information as a minimum: 

The remuneration policy aims at defining the remuneration system that will be designed and 
implemented by the Company in a manner that achieves the mutual or common value of the executive 
management, the Board of Directors and the Company and in accordance with the interests of the 
shareholders. This policy reflects the standards and principles of best practices in the field of good 
governance, which are adapted to suit the structure and circumstances of the Company, in addition 
to the relevant regulatory requirements.
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Any material deviations from the remuneration policy approved by the 
Board of Directors:
There are no fundamental deviations from the remuneration policy approved by the Board of Directors

 The total remuneration and benefits granted to five senior executives who received the highest remuneration, in addition to the CEO and the financial
.manager or whoever acts on their behalf if they are not among them

 Total
 number

of
exec-
 utive
posit-

ions

Rewards and benefits through the mother Company Rewards and benefits through affiliates

Fixed rewards and benefits )KD(

Variable 
rewards 

and 
benefits 

)KD(

Fixed rewards and benefits

)KD(

Variable 
rewards 

and 
benefits 

)KD(

 Monthly
 salaries

 total
 during

the
year

 Health
insu-
rance

 Annual
tickets

 Housing
allow-

ance

Trans-
 portation
allowance

 Children’s
 education
allowance

 Annual
bonus

 Monthly
 salaries

 total
during

the
year

 Health
insur-
ance

 Annual
tickets

Hous-
 ing

allow-
ance

Transp-
otation

allow-
ance

Child-
 ren’s
educ-
 ation
allow-

ance

 Annual
bonus

5290,1602,116N/A13,27210,500N/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/A

Statement No. 2 (Remuneration Report for the Executive Management): 

 Total remuneration and benefits for the members of the Board of Directors

 Total
 number

 of
members

Rewards and benefits through the mother Company Rewards and benefits through affiliates

Fixed rewards and 
benefits )KD(

Variable rewards and benefits 
)KD(

Fixed rewards and benefits 
)KD(

Variable rewards and benefits 
)KD(

Health insurance
 Annual

bonus
 Rewarding

commissions
 Health

insurance

 Monthly salaries
 )total during the

)year

 Annual
bonus

 Rewarding
commissions

8N/AN/A
 KD 75,000
Attendance

N/AN/AN/AN/A

Include the two following statements: 
Statement No. 1 (Remuneration Report for Board Members): 
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 The total remuneration and benefits granted to five senior executives who received the highest remuneration, in addition to the CEO and the financial
.manager or whoever acts on their behalf if they are not among them

 Total
 number

of
exec-
 utive
posit-

ions

Rewards and benefits through the mother Company Rewards and benefits through affiliates

Fixed rewards and benefits )KD(

Variable 
rewards 

and 
benefits 

)KD(

Fixed rewards and benefits

)KD(

Variable 
rewards 

and 
benefits 

)KD(

 Monthly
 salaries

 total
 during

the
year

 Health
insu-
rance

 Annual
tickets

 Housing
allow-

ance

Trans-
 portation
allowance

 Children’s
 education
allowance

 Annual
bonus

 Monthly
 salaries

 total
during

the
year

 Health
insur-
ance

 Annual
tickets

Hous-
 ing

allow-
ance

Transp-
otation

allow-
ance

Child-
 ren’s
educ-
 ation
allow-

ance

 Annual
bonus

5290,1602,116N/A13,27210,500N/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/AN/A

Rule Four: Safeguard the Integrity of Financial 
Reporting
Written undertakings by both the Board of Directors and the Executive Management of the 
soundness and integrity of the prepared financial reports.

As a commitment from the Company’s Board of Directors to ensure the integrity of the financial 
reports, the executive management pledges to the Board of Directors in writing that the financial 
reports are presented with integrity and impartiality, reviewing all the financial aspects of the 
Company in accordance with the international accounting standards approved by the authority. The 
Board of Directors pledges the integrity and impartiality of the financial statements through annual 
report submitted to shareholders.

Brief about the application of the formation requirements of the audit 
committee

The Board of Directors has formed the Audit Committee, which is a committee consisting of 3 
members of the Company’s Board of Directors. This Committee works to consolidate the culture of 
compliance within the Company by ensuring the integrity and impartiality of the Company’s financial 
reports, as well as ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems applied in 
the Company.

The regulation of the Audit Committee defines all tasks and responsibilities of the Committee 
in addition to all conditions and requirements for forming the Committee in accordance with the 
governance rules of the Capital Markets Authority.

In case of any conflicts between the recommendations of the audit 
committee and the resolutions of the Board of Directors, a statement shall 
be included detailing and clarifying the recommendations and the reason(s) 
of the Board of Directors non-compliance therewith.

In applying the highest standards of transparency, the Company’s Board of Directors has set 
the mechanisms and special procedures to be followed in the event of a conflict between the 
recommendations of the Audit Committee and the decisions of the Board of Directors. There is also 
a statement that outlines and explains the suggestions, as well as the reason(s) for the Board of 
Directors’ decision not to follow them (if any).

It is also worth mentioning that, thus far, there is no dispute between the Audit Committee’s 
recommendations and the Board of Directors’ decisions.
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Verification of the independence and the neutrality of the external Auditor

The Board of Directors has made a concerted effort to reduce incidents of conflict of interest, 
either directly or through sub-committees. The Audit Committee ensures the external auditor’s 
independence and impartiality. As a result, the Audit Committee has ensured the availability of 
independence and impartiality standards for external auditors, including determining their fees 
and reviewing their appointment letters, whereby the external auditor is appointed at the Ordinary 
General Assembly based on the Board of Directors’ recommendations, while meeting the following 
requirements: 

The external auditor must be registered with the Capital Markets Authority.

The external auditor should be independent of the Company and its Board of Directors and not 
perform additional work that falls within the scope of auditing and review, which may affect impartiality 
and independence, taking into account the legal periods specified by the Capital Markets Authority.

A brief statement on the application of the formation requirements of a department /
office / an independent unit of risk management.

The Company has an independent risk management department in accordance with the 
organizational structure approved by the Board of Directors. The Company’s risk management 
always seeks to implement the strategy and policy of risk management primarily in addition to 
following up on all types of risks facing the Company according to the following (for example, 
but not limited to):

• Establishing effective systems and procedures for risk management, in order for the Company to 
be able to perform its main tasks of measuring and following up on all types of risks it is exposed to, 
provided that this process is carried out on an ongoing basis and is reviewed periodically, and systems 
and procedures are modified when needed. 

• Developing periodic reporting systems, as they are one of the important tools in the process of 
monitoring risks and limiting their occurrence. 

Those in charge of risk management enjoy independence through their direct subordination to the 
Risk Committee, in addition to their possessing the required powers in order to carry out their tasks to 
the fullest and the experience that qualifies them to perform the role assigned to them.

Rule Five: Apply Sound Systems of Risk 
Management and Internal Audit
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A brief about the application of the formation requirements of the risk management 
committee.

The Risk Management Committee was formed on 30/5/2021, and its term of office extends 
for 3 years. The Risk Committee has an active role in discussing and following up on periodic risk 
management reports. It also assumes the tasks and responsibilities related to following up the general 
risk framework in the Company. 

Summary clarifying the control and internal audit systems.

The Company has internal control and monitoring systems that cover all the Company’s systems 
and work to maintain the Company’s financial integrity, accuracy of its data and the efficiency of its 
operations. The organizational structure has taken into account the principles of internal control for 
the dual control process (Four Eyes Principles), which include the proper identification of authorities 
and responsibilities, complete separation of tasks and no conflict of interests, double checks and 
control, the existence of policies and procedures for doing business, technological systems for 
segregation of duties, and technological systems for protection.

The Audit Committee assigned an independent third party to assess the adequacy of the Company’s 
internal control systems and prepare a report (ICR) in this regard, which was provided to the Authority 
on time.

A brief statement on the application of the formation requirements the internal audit 
department/ office/unit.

The Internal Audit Department enjoys complete technical independence and reports to the Audit 
Committee. Subsequent to the Board of Directors, the Director of the Audit Department is appointed 
by the Audit Committee.

A summary of the business charter including standards and determinants of code of 
conduct and ethical standards.

Based on the guidance of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management, the principles and 
ethics outlined in the Business Code of Conduct aim to develop ethical work regulations and a positive 

Rule Six: Promote Code of Conduct and Ethical 
Standards
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environment, as well as to establish the principle of transparency. Through these values and principles, 
the Company has a positive impact in the sector in which it operates. This will also contribute to the 
creation of an institution that will be a source of pride for all parties. 

Summary of the policies and mechanisms on reducing the conflicts of interest.

The Company is committed to reducing potential cases of conflict of interest, and the current policies 
ensure the existence of appropriate and effective procedures and measures in order to identify and 
monitor any cases of conflict of interest. These policies also include optimal handling of cases of actual 
or potential conflict of interest, and that all decisions are taken to serve achieving the interests of the 
Company and shareholders, which in turn reflects positively on the interests of the shareholders and 
achieving the Company’s objectives.

Summary of the application of mechanisms for presentation and accurate and transparent 
disclosure that define aspects, areas and characteristics of disclosure.

The Company adheres to the Kuwait Stock Exchange, Capital Markets Authority, and stakeholder 
disclosure policies and procedures.

The website allows all dealers, shareholders, stakeholders, and the general public to easily access 
comprehensive, accurate, and disclosed information..  

Brief about the application of the requirements of the Board of Directors 
disclosure and executive management disclosures, and the managers’ 
disclosures.

The Company has developed a record covering the disclosures of the Board of Directors and executive 
management, which is updated as needed. This record is available to all shareholders during regular 
business hours and is periodically updated. The Company’s official website also has a record of all 
disclosures made in the previous five years.

A brief statement on the application of the formation requirements of a unit of investor affairs.

This unit is responsible for responding to shareholder and investor inquiries by phone, email, or field visits. 
The Company also built a website and mainly depended on it for disclosure.

Rule Seven: Ensure Timely and High Quality 
Disclosure and Transparency
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Brief on how to develop the infrastructure for the information technology on which it shall 
significantly rely on in the disclosure processes.

The Company’s website is periodically updated, as it displays all the recent information and data 
that helps current and potential shareholders and investors exercise their rights and evaluate the 
Company’s performance, in order for the Company to communicate with the largest number of 
shareholders, investors and stakeholders.

A summary of the application of the requirements for the identification and protection of the 
general rights of shareholders, in order to ensure fairness and equality amongst all shareholders.

Ensuring justice and equality among all shareholders is one of the most important requirements 
stipulated in the corporate governance rules as well as the Companies Law. The Company is 
committed to protecting the rights of its shareholders in a way that ensures achieving the interests 
of both shareholders and the Company, and the Company seeks to provide the highest standards 
of transparency and equality in all current or potential shareholders’ transactions. A policy has been 
prepared to define and protect the rights of shareholders in accordance with the Company’s articles 
of association, as the Company’s articles of association clearly include the necessary procedures and 
controls to ensure that all shareholders exercise their rights in a manner that achieves justice and 
equality, and in a manner that does not conflict with the applicable laws and regulations, decisions 
and instructions issued in this regard. 

A summary of the creation of a special record at the Clearing Agency as part 
of the requirements for on-going monitoring of shareholders’ data.

The Company seeks continuous follow-up of everything related to the shareholders’ data, thus it has 
created a special register to be kept with the clearinghouse, in which the names of the shareholders, 
their nationalities, their domiciles and the number of shares owned by each of them are recorded. Any 
changes to the data recorded therein are indicated according to data received by the Company or 
clearing agency and every interested party has the right to request the Company or clearing agency 
to provide them with their own data from this register. 

Rule Eight: Respect the Rights of Shareholders
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 Brief on how to encourage shareholders to participate and vote in the company’s General 
Assembly meetings.

By marketing on the Kuwait Stock Exchange’s website, the Company’s website, and daily newspapers, the 
Company is keen to invite all shareholders to general meetings and contribute to decision-making. The 
Company pledges to guarantee that all shareholders are treated fairly and that their rights are respected, 
as stated in the articles of association.. The shareholders’ rights protection policy includes all procedures 
that include protecting shareholders’ rights and ensuring effective participation.

Brief about conditions and policies that ensure protection and recognition of the rights of 
stakeholders.

The Company ensures the protection of the rights of stakeholders by ensuring the following: 

• Dealing with all stakeholders fairly. 

• Allowing stakeholders to access information and data related to their activities for easy reference to 
information quickly and regularly. 

• The Company has updated the reporting policy, which defines the procedures and guiding principles 
for notifying the Company’s competent department of any inappropriate or violating behavior so 
that the necessary corrective action is taken in a timely manner. This policy reflects the Company’s 
commitment to standards of professional and ethical behavior by helping to create an environment 
that enables stakeholders The Company’s employees, members of the Executive Management and 
the Board of Directors are not allowed to express any concerns or improper behavior while ensuring 
the protection of the reporting person. 

• The Company constantly emphasizes the use of its website to communicate with stakeholders 
(shareholders, investors, customers, regulatory authorities, etc.) by providing information to be 
published about the Company on its website.

Brief on how to encourage stakeholders to keep track of the company’s 
various activities

As a commitment from the Company to encourage stakeholders, the Company encourages 

Rule Nine: Recognize the Roles of Stakeholders
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stakeholders to participate through some procedures, including but not limited to:

• Taking all measures and facilities in order to attend the annual meeting of the General Assembly 

• Participating in discussions and vote on the decisions of the General Assembly

• Exercising rights in accordance with applicable laws and regulations 

• Familiarity with all information related to the Group’s plans and strategy before voting in meetings or 
any other information through disclosure and transparency mechanisms 

• Providing a reporting policy that confirms the principle of transparency and the preservation of the 
rights of stakeholders through direct communication with the Chairman of the Board of Directors

A summary of the application of the requirements for the development of mechanisms that 
allow Members of the Board of Directors and Executive Management to attend the training 
programs and courses regularly.

In 2021, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee provided training to the members of the Board 
of Directors. The members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management completed a 
training course for the following topics:-

• Disclosure, transparency and obligations of insiders and their updates.

Brief on how to evaluate the performance of the Board as a whole, and 
the performance of each Member of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Management

The Board of Directors as a whole is evaluated and each member of the Board of Directors is evaluated 
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The annual evaluation of the members of the 
Board of Directors also reflects the Company’s commitment to the constant pursuit of improving the 
performance of the Board and its supervisory role. The evaluation of the Board’s performance enables 
the evaluation of the efficiency and effectiveness of the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and 
the supervision under the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 

Rule Ten: Encourage and Enhance Performance
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Through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
determines the results of the performance evaluation by identifying strengths and weaknesses and 
reviewing the members’ needs for training and development. 

An overview of the Board of Directors efforts and asserting the importance of corporate value 
creation with the employees at the company through achieving the company’s strategic goals 
and improving key performance indicators.

The Board of Directors exerts great efforts in creating institutional values for the Company’s 
employees by emphasizing the executive management’s continuous commitment to creating a 
motivating culture to work with the highest standards of professionalism and self-development. The 
Company is also keen to develop the performance of employees by providing them with training 
courses and encouraging them to get more specialized professional certificates for each one of them 
according to their field of work. 
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Rule Eleven: Focus on the Importance of 
Corporate Social Responsibility
A summary of the development of a policy to ensure a balance between each of the company 
goals and society goals.

ACICO has always prioritized social responsibility, ensuring that its products are eco-friendly and do 
not pollute the environment. In light of the pandemic, the Company played an important societal role 
by enabling and supplying vaccinations, raising awareness of safety standards, social distance, and 
offering preventative methods. 

In addition, it provided a safe and healthy work environment for its employees at all times, based on its 
belief that all injuries and accidents that occur during work can be avoided, controlled, managed and 
reduced by promoting a culture of risk prevention and commitment to security and safety applications 
and the preservation of lives among all employees in the Group .

Brief about the programs and mechanisms helping to highlight the companies 
efforts exerted in the field of social work.

ACICO aims at developing a mechanism to highlight its social work role to understand and raise 
awareness of different stakeholders to the need to participate in the area of social work and stimulate 
stakeholders to participate in such activities. The most prominent mechanisms in the year 2021:
1. The Company’s website.
2. Commonly available daily newspapers.
3. Informing employees through various means.
4. Social Media.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

REPORT
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Audit committee report for the year that ended 
on December 31st, 2021
Introduction

The Audit Committee is a committee that ensures the establishment of a culture of compliance 
within the Company by ensuring the integrity and impartiality of the Company’s financial reports and 
ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control systems applied within the Company.

Members of the Audit Committee:

1. Mr. Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri,              Chairman of the Audit Committee

2. Mr. Ahmed Faisal Al-Rifai,                          Member of the Audit Committee 

3. Mr. Emad Abdullah Al-Essa,                        Member of the Audit Committee  

Meetings and Achievements of the Committee:

In 2021, the Committee held a total of twelve (12) meetings. The Committee’s 
most significant achievements included the following:

1- A comprehensive and direct review of all internal control procedures for the Group’s companies, 
sectors, and operations.

2- Verifying the internal audit framework based on the Company’s risks.

3- Conducting a comprehensive analysis to assess the shortcomings of internal audit, studying the 
best-proposed strategies to address them according to best practices, and formulating strategic 
alternatives to address shortcomings.

4- Seeking the assistance of a consulting body specialized in internal auditing after soliciting offers 
addressed to 9 prestigious companies in this field.

5- Collaborating with the Risk Committee to compile a report on the Company’s risk trend and 
determine the acceptable levels of risks in the Company and its subsidiaries.
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6- Developing a large-scale internal audit work 
plan for a period of 3 years to cover all sectors of 
the Company and its subsidiaries.

7- Update all current policies and procedures of 
the Company to address the current challenges 
in accordance with best practices.

8- Restructuring the internal audit department 
and building its capabilities to enable the 
department to operate more effectively to 
meet all challenges.

9- Conducting a direct strategic audit by 
the Committee on vital departments of the 
Group, including human resources, information 
technology, compliance, legal, public relations, 
and finance.

The Committee’s assessment of 
the Company’s internal control 
environment 

During its work in 2021, the Committee made 
improvements to the internal control systems 
that were deemed essential to cover any gaps in 
these systems.

Head of the Audit Committee

Manaf Abdulaziz Al-Hajeri
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The Shareholders 

ACICO Industries Company - K.S.C.(Public)

State of Kuwait

Report on the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of ACICO Industries Company 
- K.S.C. (Public) (“the Parent Company”) and 
subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at December 31, 2021, and 
the consolidated statements of profit or loss, 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
changes in equity and cash flows for the financial 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at December 31, 2021, 
and its consolidated financial performance and 

its consolidated cash flows for the financial year 
then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountant’s Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the (IESBA Code). We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, 
in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current year. 
These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our 
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. We have 
identified the following key audit matter to 
be communicated in our report.

Valuation of investment 
properties
Investment properties amounting to KD 
152,727,249 represent a significant part of the 
total assets of Group. The determination of 
the fair value of such properties is a subjective 
area and is highly dependent on judgements 
and estimates. Accordingly, the valuation 
of investment properties is considered a 
key audit matter. The Group performs an 
annual valuation exercise through accredited 
external valuers to determine the fair value of 
the investment properties. These valuations 
are dependent on certain key assumptions 
such as estimated rental revenues, discount 
rates, occupancy rates, market knowledge, 
developers risk and historical transactions. 
In estimating the fair value of investment 
properties, valuers used sales comparison 
valuation techniques and had considered 
the nature and usage of the investment 
properties. We reviewed the valuation reports 
issued by accredited external valuers and 
evaluated the adequacy of disclosures as 
provided in Note (9) to the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.

Other information included 
in the Annual Report of the 
Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2021
Management is responsible for the other 
information. Other information consists of 
the information included in the Group’s 2021 
Annual Report, other than the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. We have not obtained the annual 
report, including the report of the Group’s 
Board of Directors, prior to the date of our 
auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain 
these reports after the date of our auditor’s 
report. In connection with our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information; we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. Our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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Responsibilities of 
Management and 
Those Charged with 
Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those Charged with Governance are responsible 
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
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sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 

and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient  appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion. 

We communicate with Those Charged with 
Governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 

We also provide Those Charged with 
Governance with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with Those 
Charged with Governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current year and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in 
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our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the 
adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements 
Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of 
account have been kept by the Parent Company 
and the consolidated financial statements, 
together with the contents of the report of the 
Parent Company’s Board of Directors relating 
to these consolidated financial statements, 
are in accordance therewith. We further report 
that we obtained all the information and 
explanations that we required for the purpose 
of our audit and that the consolidated financial 
statements incorporate all information that is 
required by the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 
and its Executive Regulations, as amended, 
and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum 
of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as 
amended, that an inventory was duly carried out 
and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
no violations of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 

and its Executive Regulations, as amended, 
or of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation and Articles of association, as 
amended, have occurred during the financial 
year ended December 31, 2021 that might have 
had a material effect on the business of the 
Parent Company or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of 
our audit and to the best of our knowledge 
and belief, we have not become aware of any 
material violations of the provisions of Law 
7 of 2010, concerning the Capital Markets 
Authority and Organization of Security Activity, 
its amendments and Executive Regulations 
during the financial year ended December 31, 
2021 that might have had a material effect on 
the business of the Parent Company or on its 
financial position.

State of Kuwait

March 29, 2022

Nayef M. Al Bazie
Licence No. 91-A

RSM Albazie & Co.
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

ASSETS Note 2021 2020

Cash and short-term funds 3 8,904,228 7,355,098
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 4 24,937,079 21,489,522
Contract assets 5 94,099 86,693
Due from related parties 32 5,397,031 4,236,403 
Inventories 6 25,510,143 30,693,784
Properties held for trading 7 945,244 1,332,547
Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) 695,361 683,767
Investment in associates 8 1,994,422 1,991,732
Investment properties 9 152,727,249 153,462,657
Property, plant and equipment 10 145,504,614 145,692,507
Right-of-use assets 11 1,891,349 2,971,491
Goodwill 12 26,812,951 26,812,951

Total assets 395,413,770 396,809,152
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities:
Due to banks 13 9,807,138 9,956,374
Accounts payable and other credit balances 14 29,749,526 24,594,260 
Dividends payable to shareholders 1,962,534 2,009,346
Contract liabilities 5 1,741,072 1,431,893
Due to related parties 32 70,398 111,443 
Lease liabilities 15 1,913,646 3,029,742
Term loans 16 198,133,912 199,864,145
Murabaha payable 17 56,487,738 59,234,828
Provision for end of service indemnity 18 4,405,023 4,045,985
Total liabilities 304,270,987 304,278,016
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Note 2021 2020

Equity:
Share capital 19 33,340,009 33,340,009
Share premium 20 24,426,446 24,426,446
Statutory reserve 21 13,119,257 13,119,257
Treasury shares 23 (535,557) (803,064)
Treasury shares reserve 2,491,444 2,568,207
Effect of change in other comprehensive loss of 
associates (81,641) (129,449)
Revaluation surplus 64,739 64,739
Fair value reserve (83,797) (95,391)
Other reserve 1,650,648 1,650,648
Foreign currency translation adjustments 9,472,545 9,876,907
(Accumulated losses) (8,788,945) (8,994,164)
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Parent 
Company 75,075,148 75,024,145
Non-controlling interests 31 16,067,635 17,506,991
Total equity 91,142,783 92,531,136

Total liabilities and equity 395,413,770 396,809,152

The accompanying notes from (1) to (39) form an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.

 Mazen Saad Al-Nahedh

Chairman
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Note 2021 2020

Operating revenue 24 74,992,976 58,298,446

Operating costs 25 (64,539,211) (54,277,181)

Net real estate revenue 26 4,319,113 2,677,633

Write down of properties held for trading 7 - (1,489,984)

Changes in fair value of investment 
properties 9 95,209 (15,374,114)

Gross profit )loss( from operations 14,868,087 (10,165,200)

General and administrative expenses 25 (6,195,382) (6,899,872)

Selling expenses (1,744,873) (1,138,870)

Depreciation and amortization 10 ، 11 (491,638) (599,313)

Net provisions charged 27 (16,334) (360,190)

Profit )loss( from operations 6,419,860 (19,163,445)

Group’s share of results from associates 8 (45,118) (941,941)

Provision for legal claim no longer required 33 (b-i) 1,308,309 -

Finance charges (8,303,022) (10,330,688)

Other income 28 764,297 828,667

Profit )loss( for the year 144,326 (29,607,407)

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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Note 2021 2020

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company 205,219 (28,710,353)

Non-controlling interests (60,893) (897,054)

Profit )loss( for the year 144,326 (29,607,407)

Fills Fills

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 
attributable to shareholders of the Parent 
Company 30 0.62 (87.02)

The accompanying notes from (1) to (39) form an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

The accompanying notes from (1) to (39) form an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.

Note 2021 2020

Profit (loss) for the year 144,326 (29,607,407)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating foreign 
operations (412,553) 1,648,193

Other comprehensive income of associates 8 47,808 65,284

Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI 11,594 (124,350)

Other comprehensive )loss( income for the year (353,151) 1,589,127

Total comprehensive loss for the year (208,825) (28,018,280)

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Parent Company (139,741) (27,186,976)

Non-controlling interests 31 (69,084) (831,304)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (208,825) (28,018,280)
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20202021Note
Cash flows from operating activities:

(29,607,407)144,326Profit (loss) for the year
Adjustments for:

(876,340)(411,972)7Gain on sale of properties held for trading
1,489,984-7Write down of properties held for trading
15,374,114(95,209)9Changes in fair value of investment properties
(215,531)50,8259 , 26Loss (gain) on sale of investment properties
919,5101,049,75218Provision for end of service indemnity
6,945,1585,504,30010 , 11Depreciation and amortization
360,19016,33427Net provisions charged
941,94145,1188Group’s share of results from associates
-(1,308,309)33 (b-i)Provision for legal claim no longer required
10,330,6888,303,022Finance charges
(9,210)(76,625)28Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment
(21,103)(4,163)11 , 28Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets 
(20,826)(11,498)28Interest income
5,611,16813,205,901

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
135,357(1,879,600)Accounts receivable and other debit balances
935,256(7,406)Contract assets
2,041,879(665,165)Due from related parties
932,7044,824,669Inventories
4,497,711796,460Net movement in properties held for trading
(601,886)5,118,186Accounts payable and other credit balances
(1,009,498)309,179Contract liabilities
39,826(41,045)Due to related parties
12,582,51721,661,179Cash flows generated from operating activities
-(24,448)Payment for NLST
(76,000)-Payment for Board of Director’s remuneration
(942,915)(689,409)18Payment for end of service indemnity
11,563,60220,947,322Net cash flows generated from operating activities

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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The accompanying notes from (1) to (39) form an integral part of the consolidated
financial statements.

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

20202021Note
Cash flows from investing activities:

(420,000)-Term deposit
(1,975,576)(172,449)9Paid for purchase of investment properties
5,152,293303,2479Proceeds from sale of investment properties
(7,486,150)(4,498,442)10Paid for purchase of property, plant and equipment
24,119271,243Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
25,54811,498Interest income received
(4,679,766)(4,084,903)Net cash flows used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
(1,071,280)(149,236)Net movement in due to banks
706,440(1,730,233)Net movement in term loans
(1,158,458)(2,747,090)Net movement in Murabaha payable 
(1,460,931)(1,205,445)Lease payments
(8,982,328)(9,922,935)Finance charges paid
(278,467)-Purchase of treasury shares
28,097190,744Proceeds from sale of treasury shares

(72,710)(46,812)
Cash dividends paid to shareholders of the Parent 
Company

(12,289,637)(15,611,007)Net cash flows used in financing activities
(5,405,801)1,251,412Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
1,544,250297,718Foreign currency translation adjustments 
10,796,6496,935,098Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
6,935,0988,484,2283Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

Significant non-cash transactions adjusted in the above 
consolidated statement of cash flows are as set out 
below:

20202021
NoteSignificant non-cash activities:

2,791,281239,48911Right-of-use assets
(2,791,281)(239,489)15Lease liabilities
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1.Incorporation and 
activities of the Parent 
Company
ACICO Industries Company – K.S.C. (Public) 
(the Parent Company) is a Kuwaiti public 
shareholding company incorporated through 
an agreement No. 16540 dated June 23, 
1990, with latest amendment on April 8, 2019 
and is listed in Boursa Kuwait. The Parent 
Company’s commercial registration number 
is 41903 dated July 17, 1991.

The principal activities of the Parent 
Company include:

a) Establishment of factories for the 
production of all types and sizes of aerated 
concrete and non-concrete and all its 
construction requirements, import and 
export of all building materials. The Company 
is considered the sole agent in the Middle 
East for manufacturing ‘Hebil’ international 
products.

b) Owning, buying and selling real estate, 
land and its development for the benefit of 
the Company either inside or outside Kuwait, 
also management of properties for others 
and all of that without violating the rules 
stipulated in the existing laws and prohibited 
from trading in private housing blocks as 
stipulated by these laws. 

c) Dealing in industrial companies shares and 
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bonds relating to the main objective of the 
Company either inside or outside Kuwait.

d) Preparing and submitting the studies 
and consultancy and also organizing the 
industrial exhibition for the Company’s 
projects.

e) General contracting and management of 
real estate funds.

The Parent Company may have an interest 
or participation in companies of similar 
activities which could assist the Parent 
Company in achieving its objectives inside 
or outside the State of Kuwait. The Parent 
Company may also establish, participate in 
or acquire such companies.

The Parent Company is regulated and 
supervised by the Capital Markets Authority 
(“CMA”) as a listed Company.

The Parent Company is located in Sharq, Al 
Hamra Business Tower, 34th floor and its 
registered address is P.O. Box 24079, Safat 
13101 - State of Kuwait.

The consolidated financial statements 
were authorized for issue by the Board 
of Directors on March 29, 2022. The 
Shareholder’s Annual General Assembly has 
the power to amend these consolidated 
financial statements after issuance.



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

94

2. Significant accounting 
policies 
a) Basis of preparation
The accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of the Group have been prepared 
in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). Significant accounting policies are 
summarized as follows:

The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) which 
is the functional currency of the Parent 
Company and are prepared under the 
historical cost basis, except for financial 
assets at FVOCI and investment properties 
that are stated at their fair value. 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
value of the consideration given in exchange 
for goods and services. Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.

The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards requires 
management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. Significant 

accounting judgments, estimates and 
assumptions are disclosed in Note 2(Ac). The 
key sources of estimation uncertainty are 
consistent with the annual audited financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, except for the continuing 
impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the 
Group which is detailed in Note 39.

Amendments on the applied 
standards

Amended IFRS standards that are effective 
for the current year are as follows:

The accounting policies used in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are consistent with those used in 
the previous year except for the changes due 
to implementation of the following amended 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
as of January 1, 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: 
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, [FRS 4 
and IFRS 16:

The amendments provide temporary reliefs 
which address the financial reporting effects 
when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is 
replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 
interest rate (RFR). 

The amendments include the following 
practical expedients:
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• A practical expedient to require contractual 
changes, or changes to cash flows that are 
directly required by the reform, to be treated 
as changes to interest rate, equivalent to a 
movement in market rates.

• Permit changes required by IBOR reform 
to be made to hedge designations and 
hedge documentation without the hedging 
relationship being discontinued.

• Provide temporary relief to entities from 
having to meet the separately identifiable 
requirement when an RFR instrument is 
designated as a hedge of a risk component.

These amendments do not have any material 
impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

.

Amendments to IFRS 16 – Covid-19 
Related Rent Concessions 

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions, issued 
in May 2020, added paragraphs 46A, 46B, 
60A, C20A and C20B. A lessee shall apply 
that amendment for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after June 1, 2020. Earlier 
application is permitted, including in financial 
statements not authorized for issue at May 
28, 2020.

The amendment was intended to apply 
until June 30 2021, but as the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic is continuing, on March 
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31 2021, the IASB extended the period of 
application of the practical expedient to June 
30, 2022. The amendment applies to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after April 
1, 2021. These amendments do not have any 
material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Several other amendments and 
interpretations apply for the first time in 2021, 
but do not have an impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. The 
Group has not early adopted any standards, 
interpretations or amendments that have 
been issued but are not yet effective.  

Revised IFRS standards in issue 
but not yet effective 

At the date of authorization of these 
consolidated financial statements, the Group 
has not applied the following revised IFRS 
standards that have been issued but are not 
yet effective:

Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3  

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to 
the Conceptual Framework. The amendments 
are intended to replace a reference to 
the Framework for the Preparation and 
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Presentation of Financial Statements, issued 
in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 
March 29, 2018 without significantly changing 
its requirements.

The Board also added an exception to the 
recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the 
issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising 
for liabilities and contingent liabilities that 
would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 
21 Levies, if incurred separately.

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify 
existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent 
assets that would not be affected by 
replacing the reference to the Framework for 
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 
Statements.

The amendments are effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022 and apply prospectively. 
These amendments are not expected have 
any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 16 – Property, 
Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 
before Intended Use 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant 
and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended 
Use, which prohibits entities deducting 
from the cost of an item of property, plant 

and equipment, any proceeds from selling 
items produced while bringing that asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Instead, an entity 
recognises the proceeds from selling such 
items, and the costs of producing those items, 
in consolidated profit or loss.

The amendment is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022 and must be applied 
retrospectively to items of property, plant 
and equipment made available for use on or 
after the beginning of the earliest period 
presented when the entity first applies the 
amendment. These amendments are not 
expected to have a material impact on the 
Group.

Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous 
Contracts: Costs of Fulfilling a 
Contract

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to 
IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs 
to include when assessing whether a contract 
is onerous or loss-making.

The amendments apply a “directly related cost 
approach”. The costs that relate directly to a 
contract to provide goods or services include 
both incremental costs and an allocation of 
costs directly related to contract activities. 
General and administrative costs do not 
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relate directly to a contract and are excluded 
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the 
counterparty under the contract.

The amendments are effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2022. The Group will apply these 
amendments to contracts for which it has 
not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the 
beginning of the annual reporting period 
in which it first applies the amendments. 
The Group is in the process of assessing the 
potential impact on its consolidated financial 
statements resulting from the application of 
the standard.

Annual Improvements 
to IFRS Standards 
2018-2020 cycle 
The following is the summary of the 
amendments from the 2018-2020 annual 
improvements cycle:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - 
Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for 
derecognition of financial liabilities

The amendment clarifies the fees that an 
entity includes when assessing whether the 
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terms of a new or modified financial liability 
are substantially different from the terms 
of the original financial liability. These fees 
include only those paid or received between 
the borrower and the lender, including fees 
paid or received by either the borrower or 
lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies 
the amendment to financial liabilities that 
are modified or exchanged on or after the 
beginning of the annual reporting period in 
which the entity first applies the amendment.

The amendment is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The 
Group will apply the amendments to financial 
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on 
or after the beginning of the annual reporting 
period in which the entity first applies the 
amendment. These amendments are not 
expected to have a material impact on the 
Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements — 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 

The amendments change the requirements in 
IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting 
policies The amendments replace all instances 
of the term ‘significant accounting policies’ 
with ‘material accounting policy information’. 
Accounting policy information is material 
if, when considered together with other 
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information included in an entity’s financial 
statements, it can reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions that the primary users of 
general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in IAS 1 are also 
amended to clarify that accounting policy 
information that relates to immaterial 
transactions, other events or conditions 
is immaterial and need not be disclosed. 
Accounting policy information may be 
material because of the nature of the related 
transactions, other events or conditions, even 
if the amounts are immaterial. However, not 
all accounting policy information relating 
to material transactions, other events or 
conditions is itself material.

The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2023, with earlier application permitted and 
are applied prospectively.

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors—Definition of 
Accounting Estimates

The amendments replace the definition of 
a change in accounting estimates with a 
definition of accounting estimates. Under 
the new definition, accounting estimates are 
“monetary amounts in financial statements 
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting 
estimates was deleted. However, the Board 
retained the concept of changes in accounting 
estimates in the Standard with the following 
clarifications: 

• A change in accounting estimate that results 
from new information or new developments 
is not the correction of an error 

• The effects of a change in an input or a 
measurement technique used to develop 
an accounting estimate are changes in 
accounting estimates if they do not result 
from the correction of prior period errors. 

The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after I January 
2023 to changes in accounting policies and 
changes in accounting estimates that occur 
on or after the beginning of that period, with 
earlier application permitted. The Group is in 
the process of assessing the potential impact 
on its consolidated financial statements 
resulting from the application of the standard.
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Amendments to IAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current  

In January 2021, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the 
requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would 
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2023 and must be applied retrospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the 
amendments will have on current practice and whether existing loan agreements may require 
renegotiation.
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b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Parent 
Company and the following subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”):

 Percentage of holding

20202021
Country of 

incorporation
Name of the subsidiary

Directly Held

%94.3394.33%State of KuwaitACICO Arabia for General Trading & Contracting 
Company - W.L.L.

%70.7070.70%State of KuwaitACICO Construction Company - K.S.C. (Closed) 
(“ACC”) (a)

%100100%State of KuwaitAslan Real Estate Company - Sole Proprietorship

%9999%State of KuwaitACICO Kuwait Company - W.L.L. (b)

%9999%State of KuwaitACICO Gulf Real Estate Company - W.L.L. (b)

%9999%State of KuwaitAcelera Logistics for Goods Transportation 
Company - W.L.L. (b)

%100100%South AfricaACICO Africa (PTY) LTD 

%86.3086.30%State of KuwaitAl Masaken United Real Estate Company K.S.C. 
(Closed)

%100100%State of QatarAerated Concentrate Industries Company - Qatar 
- W.L.L.

%100100%United Arab 

Emirates

Sky Star International for Businessmen Services 
Company - W.L.L.

%100100%Kingdom of 

Saudi Arabia

Aerated Concrete Industries Company - Saudi Arabia - 
W.L.L.

Held through ACICO Construction Company

%100100%State of KuwaitMariam Al Subah & Co. for General Trading Co. W.L.L. 

%99.9099.90%State of KuwaitKuwait Ideal General Construction of Buildings 
Company - W.L.L  

%99.9099.90%State of KuwaitACICO Industries for Precast and Construction 
Company - K.S.C. (Closed)

%100100%NetherlandsACICO Europe Holding B.V.
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The other 1% investment are registered in the 
name of a related party and there is a waiver 
letter that the beneficial ownership of this 
investment is in favor of the Group.

Subsidiaries (investees) are those enterprises 
controlled by the Parent Company. Control is 
achieved when the Parent Company: 

• has power over the investee.

• is exposed, or has rights to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee.

• has the ability to use its power to affect its 
returns.

The Parent Company reassess whether or not it 
controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of 
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to 
give it the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee unilaterally. 

The Group considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances in assessing whether or not 
the Company’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including:

• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights 
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of 
the other vote holders;

• potential voting rights held by the Company, 
other vote holders or other parties;

•rights arising from other contractual 
arrangements;

• any additional facts and circumstances that 
indicate that the Company has, or does not 
have, the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities at the time that decisions need to 
be made, including voting patterns at previous 
shareholder’s meetings.
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The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control 
effectively commences until the date that 
control effectively ceases. Specifically, income 
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income from the date the 
Parent Company gains control until the date 
when the Parent Company ceases to control 
the subsidiary. All inter-company balances 
and transactions, including inter-company 
profits and unrealized profits and losses are 
eliminated in full on consolidation. Consolidated 
financial statements are prepared using uniform 
accounting policies for like transactions and 
other events in similar circumstances. 

Non-controlling interests in the net assets 
of consolidated subsidiaries are identified 
separately from the Group’s equity therein. 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
each component of other comprehensive 
income are attributed to the owners of the 
Parent Company and to the non-controlling 
interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a 
subsidiary, without a change of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction under 
“other reserve”. The carrying amounts of the 
group’s ownership interests and non-controlling 
interests are adjusted to reflect changes in 
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any 
difference between the amount by which 
non-controlling interests are adjusted and fair 
value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognized directly in equity and attributable 

to owners of the Parent Company. If the Group 
loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) 
and liabilities of the subsidiary;

• Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest;

• Derecognizes the cumulative translation 
differences, recorded in equity;

• Recognizes the fair value of the consideration 
received;

• Recognizes the fair value of any investment 
retained;

• Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or 
loss;

• Reclassifies the Parent Company’s share of 
components previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss or retained earnings 
as appropriate.

c) Financial instruments
The Group classifies its financial instruments 
as “Financial assets” and “Financial liabilities. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognized when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities 
or equity in accordance with the substance 
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of the contractual arrangement. Interest, 
dividends, gains, and losses relating to a financial 
instrument classified as a liability are reported 
as expense or income. Distributions to holders 
of financial instruments classified as equity are 
charged directly to equity. Financial instruments 
are offset when the Group has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends to settle 
either on a net basis or to realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried on 
the consolidated statement of financial position 
include cash and short-term funds, accounts 
receivable and other debit balances (except 
advance payments and prepaid expenses), 
financial assets at FVOCI, due from (to) related 
parties, due to banks, accounts payable and 
other credit balances (except advances from 
customers), lease liabilities, term loans and 
Murabaha payable. 

(A) Financial assets
1. Classification of financial assets

To determine their classification and 
measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all 
financial assets, except equity instruments 
and derivatives, to be assessed based on a 
combination of the entity’s business model 
for managing the assets and the instrument’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics.

Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the 
level that best reflects how it manages groups of 
financial assets to achieve its business objectives 
and in order to generate contractual cash flows. 
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That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely 
to collect the contractual cash flows from the 
assets or is to collect both the contractual 
cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale 
of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. 
financial assets are held for trading purposes), 
then the financial assets are classified as part 
of ‘Sell’ business model and measured at FVTPL. 
The Group’s business model is not assessed on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a 
higher level of aggregated portfolios.

Assessment of whether contractual cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI test)

Where the business model is to hold assets 
to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, the Group 
assesses whether the financial instrument’s cash 
flows represent Solely Payments of Principal 
and Interest (the ‘SPPI test’). ‘Principal’ for the 
purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of 
the financial asset at initial recognition that may 
change over the life of the financial asset (for 
example, if there are repayments of principal 
or amortization of the premium/discount). 
The most significant elements of interest 
within a lending arrangement are typically the 
consideration for the time value of money and 
credit risk.

The Group reclassifies when and only when 
its business model for managing those assets 
changes. The reclassification takes place from 
the start of the first reporting period following 
the change. Such changes are expected to be 
very infrequent and none occurred during the 
year.
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Initial recognition

Purchases and sales of those financial assets 
are recognized on settlement-date – the date 
on which an asset is delivered to or by the Group. 
Financial assets are initially recognized at fair 
value plus transaction costs for all financial 
assets not carried at FVTPL.

Derecognition

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is 
derecognized either when: the contractual 
rights to receive the cash flows from the financial 
asset have expired; or the Group has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
asset and either (a) has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the financial asset, but has transferred control 
of the financial asset. Where the Group has 
retained control, it shall continue to recognize 
the financial asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement in the financial asset.

Measurement categories of financial 
assets

The Group classifies its financial assets upon 
initial recognition into the following categories:
• Debt instruments at amortized cost
• Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no recycling 
of gains or losses to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss on derecognition

Debt instruments at amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if 

it meets both of the following conditions:

-The asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

-The contractual terms of the financial asset 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) 
on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments measured at amortized cost 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective yield method adjusted for 
impairment losses if any. Interest income, foreign 
exchange gains and losses and impairment 
are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of income Gain and losses are recognized in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.

Amortized cost and effective interest 
method  

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
asset or financial liability and of allocating 
and recognizing interest revenue or interest 
expense in profit or loss over the relevant 
period. In general, effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) excluding 
expected credit losses, through the expected life 
of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, 
a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount 
of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective 
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interest rate is calculated by discounting the 
estimated future cash flows, including expected 
credit losses, to the amortized cost of the debt 
instrument on initial recognition. 

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the 
amount at which the financial asset is measured 
at initial recognition minus the principal 
repayments, plus the cumulative amortization 
using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and 
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial 
asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Cash and short-term funds, trade and other 
receivables and due from related parties are 
classified as debt instruments at amortized cost. 

i. Cash and short term funds

Cash and short-term funds include cash on hand 
and at banks, deposits held at call with banks 
and other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and term deposits placed with banks 
having a contractual maturity of more than 
three months and are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

ii. Trade receivables

Receivables are amounts due from customers 
for merchandise sold or services performed in 
the ordinary course of business and is recognized 
initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, less allowance for expected credit 
losses. 
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Equity instruments at FVOCI
Upon initial recognition, the Group may 
elect to classify irrevocably some of its equity 
instruments at FVOCI when they are neither 
held for trading nor a contingent consideration 
arising from a business combination. Such 
classification is determined on an instrument-
by- instrument basis.

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Changes in fair values 
including foreign exchange component are 
recognized in other comprehensive income 
and presented in the fair value reserve as 
part of equity. Cumulative gains and losses 
previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income are transferred to retained earnings on 
derecognition. Gains and losses on these equity 
instruments are never recycled to consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are 
recognized in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss when the right of the payment has been 
established, except when the Group benefits 
from such proceeds as a recovery of part of 
the cost of the instrument, in which case, such 
gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments 
at FVOCI are not subject to an impairment 
assessment. Upon disposal, cumulative gains or 
losses are reclassified from fair value reserve to 
retained earnings in the statement of changes 
in equity.  

The Group classifies investments in unquoted 
equity instruments under financial assets 
at FVOCI in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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In applying this forward-looking approach, the 
Group applies a three-stage assessment to 
measuring ECL as follows:

•  Stage 1 - financial instruments that have not 
deteriorated significantly in credit quality since 
initial recognition or that have low credit risk and

• Stage 2 (not credit impaired) - financial 
instruments that have deteriorated significantly 
in credit quality since initial recognition and 
whose credit risk is not low 

• Stage 3 (credit impaired) - financial assets that 
have objective evidence of impairment at the 
reporting date and assessed as credit impaired 
when one or more events have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows have 
occurred. 

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognized 
for Stage 1 while ‘lifetime expected credit 
losses’ are recognized for Stage 2. Lifetime ECL 
represents the expected credit losses that will 
result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument. 12-month 
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that 
is expected to result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 
months after the reporting date.

The Group assesses its due from related parties 
with significant financing component at Stage 1 
and Stage 2 and measures ECLs as a discounted 
product of probability of default, exposure at 
default and loss given default. Measurement 
of the expected credit losses is determined 
by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial 
instrument. ECLs for financial assets measured 
at amortized cost are deducted from the gross 

2. Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected 
credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments not 
held at fair value through profit or loss. 

ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then 
discounted at an approximation to the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. 

For contract assets, trade and other receivables 
and related party receivables with no significant 
financing component, the Group has applied 
the standard’s simplified approach and has 
calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected 
credit losses. Accordingly, the Group does 
not track changes in credit risk and assesses 
impairment on a collective basis. The Group has 
established a provision matrix that is based on 
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment. 
Exposures were segmented based on common 
credit characteristics such as credit risk grade, 
geographic region and industry, delinquency 
status and age of relationship where applicable.

For other related party balances with significant 
financing component, the Group has applied 
forward-looking general approach wherein 
recognition of credit losses is no longer 
dependent on the Group first identifying a credit 
loss event. Instead the Group considers a broader 
range of information when assessing credit risk 
and measuring expected credit losses, including 
past events, current conditions, reasonable and 
supportable forecasts that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the 
instrument.
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carrying amount of the assets and charged to 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(B) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at 
fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs. All financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at FVPL or at amortized 
cost using effective interest rate method.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities that are not at FVTPL are 
measured subsequently at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method.

The Group’s financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost are as follows:

i. Accounts payable

Accounts payable include trade and other 
payables. Trade payables are obligations to pay 
for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. 
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. 
Accounts payable are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business if longer). If not, they are presented as 
non - current liabilities.

ii. Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently stated at amortized cost; 

any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognized in the statement of profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities 
are recognized as transaction costs of the loan 
to the extent that it is probable that some or all 
of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the 
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To 
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable 
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, 
the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for 
liquidity services and amortized over the period 
of the facility to which it relates.

iii. Murabaha payable

Murabaha payables are reported with full 
credit balances after deducting finance charges 
pertaining to future periods. Those finance 
charges are amortized on a time apportionment 
basis using effective interest method. 

A financial liability is derecognized when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability, and the 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. If the modification is not substantial, the 
difference between: (1) the carrying amount 
of the liability before the modification; and 
(2) the present value of the cash flows after 
modification should be recognized in profit or 
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loss as the modification gain or loss within other 
gains and losses.

(C) Offsetting of financial assets and 
liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
offset and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position 
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable 
legal right to offset the recognized amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

(D) Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration 
in exchange for goods or services transferred 
to the customer. If the Group performs by 
transferring goods or services to a customer 
before the customer pays consideration or 
before payment is due, a contract asset is 
recognized for the earned consideration that is 
conditional.

Contract assets is assessed for impairment 
under the simplified approach in accordance 
with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments.

(E) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or 
net realizable value after providing allowances 
for any obsolete or slow-moving items. Costs 
comprise direct materials and where applicable, 
direct labor costs and those overheads that 
have been incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition. Cost is 
determined on a weighted average basis.
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In the case of manufactured inventories and 
work in progress, cost includes an appropriate 
share of production overheads based on normal 
operating capacity. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the costs 
of completion and selling expenses. Write-down 
is made for obsolete and slow-moving items 
based on their expected future use and net 
realizable value.

(F) Properties held for trading

Properties acquired or being constructed for 
sale in the ordinary course of business, rather 
than to be held for rental or capital appreciation, 
are held as properties held for trading and are 
measured at lower of cost or net realizable value.

Cost includes freehold and leasehold rights for 
land, amount paid to contractors for construction, 
borrowing costs, planning and design costs, cost 
of site preparation, professional fees for legal 
services, property transfer taxes, construction 
overheads and other related costs.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, 
based on market prices at the reporting date 
and discounted for the time value of money 
if material, less costs to completion and 
the estimated cost of sale. Non refundable 
commissions paid to sales or marketing agents 
on the sale of real estate units are expensed 
when paid.

The cost of properties held for trading 
recognized in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss on disposal is determined with reference 
to the specific cost incurred on the property 
sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs 
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based on the relative size of the property sold. 
Write down of properties held for trading is 
charged to other operating expenses.

(G) Investment in associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group 
has significant influence which is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the associate but is not control 
or joint control over those policies. Under 
the equity method, investment in associates 
are carried in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost as adjusted for 
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets 
of the associate from the date that significant 
influence effectively commences until the date 
that significant influence effectively ceases, 
except when the investment is classified as 
held for sale, in which case it is accounted as per 
IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations”. 

The Group recognizes in its consolidated 
statement of profit or loss for its share of results 
of operations of the associate and in its other 
comprehensive income for its share of changes 
in other comprehensive income of associate.

Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s 
interest in that associate (which includes any 
long-term interests that, in substance, form part 
of the Group’s net investment in the associate) 
are not recognized except to the extent that the 
Group has an obligation or has made payments 
on behalf of the associate.

Gains or losses arising from transactions 
with associates are eliminated against the 
investment in the associate to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over 
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the associate recognized at the 
date of acquisition is recognized as goodwill. The 
goodwill is included within the carrying amount 
of the investment in associates and is assessed 
for impairment as part of the investment. If the 
cost of acquisition is lower than the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the 
difference is recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group determines at each reporting date 
whether there is any objective evidence that 
the investment in associate is impaired and 
determine if necessary, to recognize any 
impairment loss with respect to the investment. 
If there is such evidence, the entire carrying 
amount of the investment (including goodwill) is 
tested for impairment and the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the 
associate and its carrying value and recognizes 
the amount in consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognized to the extent that the recoverable 
amount of the investment subsequently 
increases.

Upon loss of significant influence over the 
associate, the Group measures and recognizes 
any retaining investment at its fair value. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of 
the associate upon loss of significant influence 
and the fair value of the retaining investment 
and proceeds from disposal is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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.(H) Investment properties

Investment properties comprise completed 
property, property under construction or 
re-development held to earn rentals or for 
capital appreciation or both. Investment 
properties are initially measured at cost 
including purchase price and transactions 
costs. Subsequent to the initial recognition, 
investment properties are stated at their fair 
value at the end of the reporting period. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of investment properties are included in 
the consolidated  statement of profit or loss 
for the period in which they arise.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to 
the asset’s carrying amount only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are expensed when 
incurred. When part of an investment 
property is replaced, the carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognized.

Investment properties are derecognized 
when either they have been disposed of (i.e. 
at the date the recipient obtains control) or 
when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic 
benefit is expected from its disposal. Gains 
or losses arising on the retirement or disposal 
of an investment property are recognized in 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Transfers are made to investment property 
when, and only when, there is a change in use, 
evidenced by the end of owner occupation 
or commencement of an operating lease 
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to another party. Transfers are made from 
investment property when, and only when, 
there is a change in use, evidenced by 
commencement of owner occupation or 
commencement of development with a view 
to sale. If owner-occupied property becomes 
an investment property, the Group accounts 
for such property in accordance with the policy 
stated under property, plant and equipment 
up to the date of change in use.

(I) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred 
and the amount recognized for non-
controlling interest, and any previously held 
interest, over the fair value of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
as at the date of the acquisition. Goodwill is 
initially recognized as an asset at cost and 
is subsequently measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Where there is an excess of the Group’s interest 
in the net fair value of acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
over cost, the Group is required to reassess 
the identification and measurement of the 
net identifiable assets and measurement 
of the cost of the acquisition and recognize 
immediately in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss any excess remaining after that 
remeasurement.

For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s 
cash-generating units expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination. 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has 
been allocated are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently when there is an 
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indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount of the 
unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other 
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the 
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An 
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not 
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-
generating unit and part of the operation 
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of 
is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or 
loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill 
disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

(J) Property, plant and equipment

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment 
comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its 
working condition and location for its intended 
use. Expenditures incurred after the property, 
plant and equipment have been put into 
operation, such as repairs and maintenance 
and overhaul costs, are normally charged to 
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the 
year in which the costs are incurred. In situations 
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the 
expenditures have resulted in an increase in 
the future economic benefits expected to be 
obtained from the use of an item of property, 
plant and equipment beyond its originally 
assessed standard of performance, the 

expenditures are capitalized as an additional 
cost of property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.  When assets are sold or retired, their cost 
and accumulated depreciation are eliminated 
from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting 
from their disposal is included in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss for the period. The 
carrying values of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed for impairment when events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists and where the carrying values 
exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the 
assets are written down to their recoverable 
amount, being the higher of their fair value less 
costs to sell and their value in use.

Properties in the course of construction for 
production, supply or administrative purposes 
are carried at cost, less any recognized 
impairment losses. Cost includes professional 
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs 
capitalized in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy. Such properties are classified 
in the appropriate categories of property, plant 
and equipment when completed and ready for 
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, 
on the same basis as other property assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their 
intended use.

Long-term leases of land acquired in a business 
combination is held at cost less impairment 
losses.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of other 
property, plant and equipment as follows:
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Depreciation is computed on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of other 
property, plant and equipment as follows:

YearsAssets category
20Buildings

3 - 10Motor vehicles

3 - 5Tools 

3 - 5Furniture and 
fixtures

3 - 5Computers and 
equipment

The depreciation of machinery and equipments 
and certain motor vehicles is calculated based 
on number of production hours.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost. 
Following completion, capital work in progress 
is transferred into the relevant class of 
property, plant and equipment.

The useful life and depreciation method 
are reviewed periodically to ensure that 
the method and period of depreciation are 
consistent with the expected pattern of 
economic benefits from items of property, 
plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment 
is derecognized upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset.
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(K) Leases
Group as a lessor
Leases in which a significant portion of the 
risks and rewards of ownership are retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. All other leases are classified as 
finance leases. The determination of whether 
an arrangement is, or contains a lease is 
based on the substance of the arrangement 
and requires an assessment of whether the 
fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent 
on the use of a specific asset or assets and 
the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset.

)i( Finance lease
Amounts due from lessees under finance 
leases are recorded as receivables at the 
amount of the Group’s net investment in the 
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to 
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net 
investment outstanding in respect of the 
leases. 

)ii( Operating lease
Rental income from operating leases is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessee
The Group assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease, at inception of the contract. 
The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset 
and a corresponding lease liability with 
respect to all lease arrangements in which it 
is the lessee.
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)i( Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right of use assets at 
the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available 
for use). Right of use assets are measured 
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
re-measurement of lease liabilities, The cost 
of right of use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct 
costs incurred, and lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Unless the Group 
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership 
of the leased asset at the end of the lease 
term, the recognized right of use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of its estimated useful life and the 
lease term. 
Right of use assets are subject to impairment. 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated lease term of right-
of-use assets as follows:

)ii( Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group recognizes lease liabilities measured 
at the present value of lease payments 
to be made over the lease term. The lease 
payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any 

YearsAssets category
5Land

5Buildings

1 - 2Motor vehicles

5Machinery and 
equipment

lease incentives receivable, variable lease 
payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
and amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees. 

The lease payments also include the exercise 
price of a purchase option reasonably certain 
to be exercised by the Group and payments 
of penalties for terminating a lease, if the 
lease term reflects the Group exercising 
the option to terminate. The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or 
a rate are recognized as expense in the period 
on which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease 
payments, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion 
of profit and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of 
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, 
a change in the in-substance fixed lease 
payments or a change in the assessment to 
purchase the underlying asset. 

)iii( Short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to its short-term 
leases of property and equipment (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months 
or less from the commencement date and do 
not contain a purchase option). It also applies 
the lease of low-value assets recognition 
exemption to leases of office equipment that 
are considered of low value. Lease payments 
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on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognized as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(L)Impairment of non-financial 
assets
At the end of each reporting date, the 
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
assets to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of the fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash 
generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognized immediately in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, 
in which case the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 
(or cash generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 

but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the 
asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

(M) Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of a past event and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
financial year and adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate. Where the effect 
of the time value of money is material, the 
amount of a provision is the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation. Provisions are not 
recognized for future operating losses. 

(N) Contract liabilities

A contract liability arises if a customer pays 
consideration, or if the Group has a right to 
consideration that is unconditional, before 
the good or service is transferred to the 
customer. Contract liabilities are recognized 
as revenue when the Group performs under 
the contract.
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(O) End of service indemnity

Provision is made for amounts payable to 
employees under the Kuwaiti Labor Law in 
the private sector and employee’s contracts 
and the applicable labor laws in the countries 
where the subsidiaries operate. This liability, 
which is unfunded, represents the amount 
payable to each employee as a result of 
involuntary termination at the end of financial 
period and approximates the present value of 
the final obligation.

(P) Dividend distribution to 
shareholders of the Parent Company

The Group recognizes a liability to make cash 
and non-cash distributions to shareholders 
of the Parent Company when the distribution 
is authorized and the distribution are no 
longer at the discretion of the Group. A 
distribution is authorized when it is approved 
by the shareholders of the Parent Company 
at the Shareholder’s Annual General 
Assembly Meeting. A corresponding amount 
is recognized directly in equity. 

Non-cash distributions are measured at 
the fair value of the assets to be distributed 
with fair value re-measurement recognized 
directly in equity. Upon distribution of non-
cash assets, any difference between the 
carrying amount of the liability and the 
carrying amount of the assets distributed is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

Distributions for the year that are approved 
after the reporting date are disclosed as 
an event after the date of consolidated 
statement of financial position.

(Q) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares are shown in equity as a 
deduction from the proceeds.

(R) Share premium

This represents cash received in excess of 
the par value of the shares issued. The share 
premium is not available for distribution 
except in cases stipulated by law. 

(S) Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent 
Company’s own shares that have been issued, 
subsequently reacquired by the Group and not 
yet reissued or canceled. The treasury shares 
are accounted for using the cost method. 
Under the cost method, the weighted average 
cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a 
contra equity account.  

When the treasury shares are reissued, 
gains are credited to a separate account in 
shareholder’s equity (treasury shares reserve) 
which is not distributable. Any realized losses 
are charged to the same account to the 
extent of the credit balance on that account. 
Any excess losses are charged to retained 
earnings, reserves, and then share premium. 

Gains realized subsequently on the sale 
of treasury shares are first used to offset 
any recorded losses in the order of share 
premium, reserves, retained earnings and 
the treasury shares reserve account. No cash 
dividends are paid on these shares. The issue 
of bonus shares increases the number of 
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treasury shares proportionately and reduces 
the average cost per share without affecting 
the total cost of treasury shares. 

Where any Group’s company purchases 
the Parent Company’s equity share capital 
(treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable 
incremental costs is deducted from equity 
attributable to the Parent Company’s equity 
holders until the shares are cancelled or 
reissued.

Where such shares are subsequently reissued, 
any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs, is 
included in equity attributable to the Parent 
Company’s shareholders.

(T) Other reserve
Other reserve is used to record the effect of 
changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries, 
without loss of control.

(U) Revenue from contracts with 
customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is 
recognized when control of the goods or 
services are transferred to the customer at 
an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the Group expects to be entitled 
in exchange for those goods or services. 
The Group has generally concluded that it 
is the principal in its revenue arrangements, 
because it typically controls the goods or 
services before transferring them to the 
customer.

The Group applies a five steps model are as 
follows to account for revenues arising from 
contracts:
• Step 1: Identify the contract with the 
customer – A contract is defined as an 
agreement between two or more parties that 
creates enforceable rights and obligations 
and sets out the criteria for every contract 
that must be met.
•   Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations 
in the contract – A performance obligation is 
a promise in a contract with the customer to 
transfer goods or services to the customer.

• Step 3: Determine the transaction price  
The transaction price is the amount of 
consideration to which the Group expects 
to be entitled in exchange of transferring 
promised good or services to a customer, 
excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties.
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price 
to the performance obligations in the 
contracts – For a contract that has more 
than one performance obligation, the Group 
will allocate the transaction price to each 
performance obligation in an amount that 
depicts the amount of consideration to which 
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for satisfying each performance obligation.
• Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the 
entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group exercise judgement, taking into 
consideration all of the relevant facts and 
circumstances when applying each step of 
the model to contracts with their customers.

The Group recognizes revenue either at a 
point in time or over time, when (or as) the 
Group satisfies performance obligations by 
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transferring the promised goods or services 
to its customers. The Group transfers control 
of a good or service over time (rather than 
at a point in time) when any of the following 
criteria are met:
• The customer simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefits provided by the 
entity’s performance as the entity performs.
• The Group’s performance creates or 
enhances an asset (e.g., work in process) that 
the customer controls as the asset is created 
or enhanced.
• The Group’s performance does not create 
an asset with an alternative use to the entity 
and the entity has an enforceable right to 
payment for performance completed to date.

Control is transferred at a point in time if 
none of the criteria for a good or service 
to be transferred over time are met. The 
Group considers the following factors in 
determining whether control of an asset has 
been transferred:
•The Group has a present right to payment 
for the asset.
•The Customer has legal title to the asset.
•The Group has transferred physical 
possession of the asset.
•The Customer has the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset.
•The Customer has accepted the asset.

The Group recognizes contract liabilities 
for consideration received in respect of 
unsatisfied performance obligations and 
reports these amounts as other liabilities 
in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a 
performance obligation before it receives 
the consideration, the Group recognizes 
either a contract asset or a receivable in its 

consolidated statement of financial position, 
depending on whether something other than 
the passage of time is required before the 
consideration is due.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract 
with a customer are capitalized when incurred 
as the Group expects to recover these costs 
and such costs would not have incurred if 
the contract has not been obtained. Sales 
commission incurred by the Group is expensed 
as the amortization period of such costs is 
less than a year.

Revenue for the Group arises from the 
following activities: 

(1) Sale of goods

Sales represent the total invoiced value of 
goods sold during the year. Revenue from 
sale of goods is recognized when or as the 
Group transfers control of the goods to 
the customer. For standalone sales, that 
are neither customized by the Group nor 
subject to significant integration services, 
control transfers at the point in time the 
customer takes undisputed delivery of the 
goods. Delivery occurs when the goods have 
been shipped to the specific location, have 
been purchased at store by the customer, 
the risks of obsolescence and loss have 
been transferred to the customer, and either 
the customer has accepted the goods in 
accordance with the sales contract, the 
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the 
Group has objective evidence that all criteria 
for acceptance have been satisfied.

When such items are either customized or 
sold together with significant integration 
services, the goods and services represent a 
single combined performance obligation over 
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which control is considered to transfer over 
time. This is because the combined product is 
unique to each customer (has no alternative 
use) and the Group has an enforceable right 
to payment for the work completed to date. 
Revenue for these performance obligations 
is recognized over time as the customization 
or integration work is performed.

When contracts involve supply of goods and 
installation services in exchange for a fixed 
fee, revenue is recognized over a period of time 
and is accounted for as a single performance 
obligation due to the high interdependence 
between the elements of the contract. When 
such contracts include after sales services, 
the total transaction price is allocated to 
each of the distinct performance obligations 
identifiable under the contract on the basis 
of the relative stand-alone selling prices. 
Where these are not directly observable, they 
are estimated based on expected cost-plus 
margin.

)2( Rendering of services

Revenue is recognized at a point in time when 
the service is rendered. 

)3( Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts is 
recognized over time on a cost-to-cost 
method (input method), i.e. based on the 
proportion of contract costs incurred for 
work performed to date relative to the 
estimated total contract costs. Profit is only 
recognized when the contract reaches a point 
where the ultimate profit can be estimated 
with reasonable certainty. Claims, variation 
orders and incentive payments are included 
in the determination of contract profit when 
approved by contract owners. 

Where the outcome of a construction 
contract cannot be estimated reliably, 
contract revenue is recognized to the extent 
of contract costs incurred that it is probable 
will be recoverable. Contract costs are 
recognized as expenses in the period in which 
they are incurred.

)4( Revenue on sale of properties

Revenue on sale of properties is recognized 
on the basis of the full accrual method as and 
when all of the following conditions are met:
• A sale is consummated and contracts are 
signed;
• The buyer’s investment, to the date of 
the financial statements, is adequate to 
demonstrate a commitment to pay for the 
property;
• The Group’s receivable is not subject to 
future subordination;
• The Group has transferred control to the 
buyer; and
• Work to be completed is either, easily 
measurable and accrued or is not significant 
in relation to the overall value of the contract.

)5( Other income and expenses

Other income and expenses are recognized 
on an accrual basis.

(V) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
added to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. Investment income 
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earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized 
in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that an entity incurs in connection with 
the borrowing of funds.

(W) Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions are translated 
into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of exchange 
prevailing on the date of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency as at the end of reporting 
date are retranslated into Kuwaiti Dinars at 
rates of exchange prevailing on that date. 
Non-monetary items carried at fair value 
that are denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on 
the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of monetary items, and on the 
retranslation of monetary items, are included 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss for 
the period. Translation differences on non-
monetary items such as equity investments 
classified as financial assets at FVOCI are 
included in “fair value reserve” in other 
comprehensive income.

The assets and liabilities of the foreign 
subsidiary are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars 
at rates of exchange prevailing at the end 
of reporting period. The results of the 

subsidiary are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars 
at rates approximating the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange differences arising on 
translation are recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income. Such translation 
differences are recognized in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in the period in 
which the foreign operation is disposed off.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 
and translated at the closing rate.

(X) Contribution to Kuwait 
Foundation for the Advancement 
of Sciences (KFAS)
Contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of 
the profit attributable to shareholders of 
the Parent Company before contribution to 
KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of Director’s 
remuneration and after deducting 
accumulated losses and the Parent 
Company’s share of income from Kuwaiti 
shareholding subsidiaries, associates and 
transfer to statutory reserve. No KFAS has 
been provided since there was no eligible 
profit on which KFAS could be calculated.

(Y) National Labor Support Tax 
(NLST)
NLST is calculated at 2.5% of the profit 
attributable to shareholders of the Parent 
Company before contribution to KFAS, NLST, 
Zakat, and Board of Director’s remuneration, 
and after deducting the Parent Company’s 
share of profit from associates listed in Boursa 
Kuwait, share of NLST paid by subsidiaries 
listed in Boursa Kuwait, and cash dividends 
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received from companies listed in Boursa 
Kuwait in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 
and Ministerial Resolution No. 24 of 2006 
and their Executive Regulations. No NLST 
has been provided since there was no eligible 
profit on which NLST could be calculated.

(Z) Zakat
Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit 
attributable to shareholders of the Parent 
Company before contribution to KFAS, NLST, 
Zakat, and Board of Director’s remuneration, 
and after deducting the Company’s share of 
profit from Kuwaiti shareholding associates 
and subsidiaries, share of Zakat paid by 
Kuwaiti shareholding subsidiaries and cash 
dividends received from Kuwaiti shareholding 
companies in accordance with Law No. 46 
of 2006 and Ministerial Resolution No. 58 
of 2007 and their Executive Regulations. 
No Zakat has been provided since there was 
no financial profit on which Zakat could be 
calculated.

)Aa( Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in 
the consolidated  financial statements unless 
it is probable as a result of past events that an 
outflow of economic resources will be required 
to settle a present, legal or constructive 
obligation; and the amount can be reliably 
estimated.  Else, they are disclosed unless 
the possibility of an outflow of resources 
embodying economic losses is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements 
but disclosed when an inflow of economic 
benefits as a result of past events is probable.

)Ab( Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of 
the Group that engages in business activities 
from which it earns revenue and incurs 
costs. Operating segments are reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. 

The chief operating decision-maker is 
identified as the person being responsible for 
allocating resources, assessing performance 
and making strategic decisions regarding the 
operating segments. 

)Ac( Critical accounting estimates 
and judgments
The Group makes judgments, estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future. 
The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards requires 
management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the year. Actual 
results could differ from the estimates.

a) Judgments:
In the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies which are described in 
Note 2, management has made the following 
judgments that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

)1( Revenue recognition
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Revenue is recognized to the extent it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured. The determination of whether 
the revenue recognition criteria as specified 
under IFRS 15 and revenue accounting policy 
are met requires significant judgment.

)2( Determination of contract cost

Determination of costs which are directly 
related to the specific contract or attributable 
to the contract activity in general requires 
significant judgment. The determination of 
contract cost has a significant impact upon 
revenue recognition in respect of long-term 
contracts. The Group follows guidance of 
IFRS 15 for determination of contract cost 
and revenue recognition.

)3( Classification of land

Upon acquisition of land, the Group classifies 
the land into one of the following categories, 
based on the intention of the management 
for the use of the land:

• Properties under development

When the intention of the Group is to develop 
land in order to sell it in the future, both the 
land and the construction costs are classified 
as properties under development. 

• Work in progress

When the intention of the Group is to develop 
a land in order to rent or to occupy it in the 
future, both the land and the construction 
costs are classified as work in progress.

• Properties held for trading

When the intention of the Group is to sell land 
in the ordinary course of business, the land is 
classified as properties held for trading.

• Investment properties

When the intention of the Group is to earn 
rentals from land or hold land for capital 
appreciation or if the intention is not 
determined for land, the land is classified as 
investment property.

)4( Allowance for expected credit losses

The determination of expected credit losses 
and the factors determining the impairment 
of the receivable involve significant judgment.

)5( Provision for inventories

The determination of the marketability of 
the inventories and the factors determining 
the impairment of the inventory involve 
significant judgment.

)6( Classification of financial assets

On acquisition of a financial asset, the Group 
decides whether it should be classified as 
at “amortized cost”, “FVTPL” or “FVOCI”. 
IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except 
equity instruments and derivatives, to be 
assessed based on a combination of the 
Group’s business model for managing the 
assets of the instrument’s contractual cash 
flow characteristics. The Group follows the 
guidance of IFRS 9 on classifying its financial 
assets.

)7( Taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in other 
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required 
in     determining the provision for income taxes. 
There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of 
business for the Group.

)8( Control assessment
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When determining control over an investee, 
management considers whether the Group 
has a ‘de facto’ power to control an investee if 
it holds less than 50% of the investee’s voting 
rights. The assessment of the investee’s 
relevant activities and the ability to use the 
Group’s power to affect the investee’s variable 
returns requires significant judgment.

)9( Material non-controlling interests

The Group’s management considers any non-
controlling interests which accounts for 5% 
or more of the related subsidiary’s equity 
as material. Disclosures pertaining to those 
non-controlling interests are set out in Note 
(31).

)10( Significant influence assessment

When determining significant influence over 
an investee, management considers whether 
the Group has the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee if it holds less than 20% of 
the investee’s voting rights. The assessment, 
which requires significant judgment, involves 
consideration of the Group’s representation 
on the investee’s board of directors, 
participation in policy making decisions and 
material transactions between the investor 
and investee.

)11( Leases

Critical judgements required in the 
application of IFRS 16 include, among others, 
the following: 

̄ Identifying whether a contract (or part of a 
contract) includes a lease; 

̄ Determining whether it is reasonably 
certain that an extension or termination 
option will be exercised; 

̄ Classification of lease agreements (when 
the entity is a lessor); 

̄ Determination of whether variable 
payments are in-substance fixed; 

̄ Establishing whether there are multiple 
leases in an arrangement,. 

̄ Determining the stand-alone selling prices 
of lease and non-lease components.

b) Estimates and assumptions:
The key assumptions concerning the 
future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the financial 
position date that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below. 

)1( Fair value of unquoted financial assets

If the market for a financial asset is not 
active or not available, the Group establishes 
fair value by using valuation techniques 
which include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments 
that are substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow analysis, and option pricing 
models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific 
circumstances. This valuation requires the 
Group to make estimates about expected 
future cash flows and discount rates that are 
subject to uncertainty.

)2( Useful lives of depreciable assets

The Group reviews its estimate of useful 
lives of depreciable assets at each reporting 
date based on the expected utility of assets. 
Uncertainties in these estimates mainly 
relate to obsolescence and changes in 
operations.
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)3( Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is 
impaired at least on an annual basis. This 
requires an estimation of the “value in use” 
of the asset or the cash-generating unit to 
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating a 
value in use requires the Group to make an 
estimate of the expected future cash-flows 
from the asset or the cash-generating unit 
and also choose an appropriate discount rate 
in order to calculate the present-value of the 
cash-flows.

)4( Allowance for expected credit losses

The extent of allowance for expected credit 
losses involves estimation process. Allowance 
for expected credit losses is based on a 
forward looking ECL approach as explained in 
Note 2c(A-ii). Bad debts are written off when 
identified. The ECL allowance and write-
down of accounts receivable are subject to 
management approval.

)5( Provision for inventories

The extent of provision for inventories 
involves estimation process. The carrying 
cost of inventories is written down to their 
net realizable value when the inventories 
are damaged or become wholly or partly 
obsolete or their selling prices have declined. 
The benchmarks for determining the 
amount of provision or write-down include 
ageing analysis, technical assessment and 
subsequent events. The provisions and 
write-down of inventories are subject to 
management approval.

)6( Long term contracts

Revenue from long term contracts is 
recognized in accordance with the percentage 

of completion method of accounting 
measured by reference to the percentage 
that actual costs incurred to date bear to 
total estimated costs for each contract. 
The revenue recognition as per the above 
criteria should correspond to the actual work 
completed. The determination of estimated 
costs and the application of percentage 
of completion method involve estimation. 
Further, the budgeted cost and revenue 
should consider the claims and variations 
pertaining to the contract.

)7( Impairment of properties held for trading

Properties held for trading is stated at the 
lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). 
NRV for completed inventory property is 
assessed by reference to market conditions 
and prices existing at the reporting date 
and is determined by the Group, based on 
comparable transactions identified by the 
Group for properties in the same geographical 
market serving the same real estate segment. 
NRV in respect of inventory property under 
construction is assessed with reference to 
market prices at the reporting date for similar 
completed property, less estimated costs to 
complete construction, estimated costs to 
sell the property, and an estimate of the time 
value of money to the date of completion.
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)8( Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with change in fair values being 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The fair value of investment property 
is determined by real estate valuation experts using recognized valuation techniques and the 
principles of IFRS 13.  Market value or comparative analysis was used to determine the fair value 
of the investment properties which is based on the assessment made by accredited external 
valuers using values of actual deals transacted recently by other parties for properties in a 
similar location and condition and based on the knowledge and experience of the real estate 
valuer.

)9( Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The 
fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions 
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental 
costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow 
model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include 
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments 
that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. The 
recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow 
model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation 
purposes.

)10( Taxes

The Group recognizes a liability for the anticipated taxes levied in the jurisdictions of its activity 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination 
is made. Any changes in the estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying 
values of the deferred taxes.

)xi( Leases

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in the application of IFRS 16 include, among others, the 
following: 

• Estimation of the lease term. 

• Determination of the appropriate rate to discount the lease payments. 

• Assessment of whether a right-of-use asset is impaired.
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3. Cash and short-term funds
20202021

6,435,0987,984,228Cash on hand and at banks

500,000500,000Short-term deposits (a)

6,935,0988,484,228Cash and cash equivalents

420,000420,000Term deposit - more than 3 months (b)

7,355,0988,904,228

(a) The short-term deposits carry an effective interest rate of 2.75% (2020: 2.75%) per annum 
and matures within three months.

(b) The effective interest rate on term deposits ranges from 1.5% to 3% (2020: 1.5% to 3%) per 
annum. These deposits have an average contractual maturity of more than three months.

based on the intention of the management for the use of the land:

4. Accounts receivable and other debit balances

20202021

19,427,01521,914,010Trade receivables (a)

3,099,3662,946,441Retention receivables (a)

560,304509,902Post dated cheques (a)

23,086,68525,370,353
(7,747,160)(7,193,860)Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) (b)

15,339,52518,176,493
2,743,4323,151,207Advance payment to suppliers 

1,071,7301,830,996Prepaid expenses

364,961384,910Refundable deposits

291,009291,009Letters of credit

1,678,8651,102,464Other receivables

21,489,52224,937,079

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

126

a( Trade receivables, retention receivables and post dated cheques:
Trade receivables, retention receivables and postdated cheques are non-interest bearing.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognizing lifetime expected credit losses for 
all trade receivables, retention receivables and postdated cheques as these items do not have a 
significant financing component. In measuring the expected credit losses, trade receivables and 
retention receivables have been assessed on a collective basis respectively and grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during 
the current year.

Trade receivables provision is provided for when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Failure to make payments within 540 days from the invoice date and failure to engage with 
the Group on alternative payment arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no 
reasonable expectation of recovery and therefore is considered as credit impaired.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group’s provision 
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss 
patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss allowance based on past due 
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer base.

2021 Not due
1 – 180 

Days
181 – 360 

Days
361 – 540 

Days

More 
than 541 

Days Total

ECL rate % 0.18 % 0.66 % 2.15% 3.46% 100.00% -

Estimated total 
gross carrying 
amount at default 8,599,130 5,290,549 2,955,106 1,497,486 7,028,082 25,370,353

Allowance for 
expected credit 
losses (15,499) (35,012) (63,466) (51,801) (7,028,082) (7,193,860)

8,583,631 5,255,537 2,891,640 1,445,685 - 18,176,493
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2020 Not due 
1 – 180 

Days
181 – 360 

Days
361 – 540 

Days

More 
than 541 

Days Total

ECL rate % 0.19% 1.68% 6.34% 10.22% 100% -

Estimated total 
gross carrying 
amount at default 2,692,730 9,284,977 2,179,707 1,650,365 7,278,906 23,086,685

Allowance for 
expected credit 
losses (5,164) (156,154) (138,287) (168,649) (7,278,906) (7,747,160)

2,687,566 9,128,823 2,041,420 1,481,716 - 15,339,525

b( Allowance for expected credit losses )“ECL”(:

The movement in allowance for ECL is as follows:

 2021 2020

Balance as at the beginning of the year 7,747,160 7,562,497

Charge during the year (Note 27) 108,925 937,303

Utilized during the year (210,244)

Provision no longer required (Note (27) (659,318) (543,165)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,907) 769

Balance as at the end of the year 7,193,860 7,747,160

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

128

5. Contract assets / Contract liabilities

 2021 2020

Contract costs incurred to date plus recognized profits 
(less recognized losses) 9,190,081 5,959,199

Progress billings (10,837,054) (7,304,399)

(1,646,973) (1,345,200)

Represented by:

Contract assets 94,099 86,693

Contract liabilities (1,741,072) (1,431,893)

(1,646,973) (1,345,200)

6. Inventories
20202021

18,071,36312,963,164Raw materials

8,301,8748,612,913Finished goods

4,782,8094,755,300Spare parts

31,156,04626,331,377
(462,262)(821,234) Less: provision for slow-moving inventories (a)

30,693,78425,510,143

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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)a( The movement in the provision for slow-moving inventories was as follows::

2021 2020

Balance as at the beginning of the year 462,262 448,808

Charge during the year (Note 27) 358,997 57,630

Provision no longer required (Note 27) - (44,182)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (25) 6

Balance as at the end of the year 821,234 462,262

7. Properties held for trading
The movement during the year was as follows: 

20202021

6,415,4151,332,547Balance as at the beginning of the year

106,204651Additions 

(3,727,575)(385,139)Disposals 

(1,489,984)-Write down of properties held for trading 

28,487(2,815)Foreign currency translation adjustments

1,332,547945,244Balance as at the end of the year

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the 
Group sold certain properties held for trading 
with a carrying value of KD 385,139 for an 
amount of KD 797,111 that resulted in a gain 
of KD 411,972 (2020: sold certain properties 
held for trading with a carrying value of 
KD 3,727,575 for an amount of KD 4,603,915 
that resulted in a gain of KD 876,340) (Note 
24).

Properties held for trading are located outside 
the state of Kuwait. The net realizable value 
of the properties held for trading had been 

determined based on the valuation carried 
out by foreign accredited valuer. In estimating 
the net realizable value of the properties held 
for trading, the sales comparison approach 
has been used, considering the nature and 
usage of the properties held for trading.
properties held for trading.
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8. Investment in associates
Percentage  of 

ownership

20202021
Principal 

activities20202021
Country of

incorporationName of the associate

 18,263 18,263Industrial50%50%Syria
Acico Kuwaiti Syria 
Company – W.L.L.

(18,263)(18,263)Provision for impairment 

--

 1,991,7321,994,422
Real 

Estate35%35%Kuwait

Al-Masaken International for 
Real Estate Development 
-K.S.C. (Public) (“Al - Masaken”) 
(b)

1,991,7321,994,422
(a) The movement during the year was as follows :

20202021

2,868,3891,991,732Balance as at the beginning of the year

(941,941)(45,118)Group’s share of results from associates 

65,28447,808Group’s share of other comprehensive income of associates

1,991,7321,994,422Balance as at the end of the year

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(



131

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

(b) The summarized financial information of Al Masaken is as follows:

20202021

Consolidated statement of financial position

3,346,8253,154,783Current assets

15,407,92215,684,503Non-current assets

(12,320,670)(12,396,045)Current liabilities 

(9,039)(10,518)Non-current liabilities

6,425,0386,432,723Net assets

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

(2,524,292)278,477Profit (loss) from operations

(166,967)(407,386)Expenses and other charges

(2,691,259)(128,909)Net loss for the year

35 %35%Group’s percentage of ownership

(941,941)(45,118)Group’s share of results from associate

Reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the carrying amount of Al 
Masaken recognized in the consolidated financial statements:.

20202021

6,425,0386,432,723Net assets of the associate

35%35%Group’s percentage of ownership

2,248,7632,251,453

(365,665)(365,665)
Elimination of profits resulting from transaction with the 
Parent Company

108,634108,634Other adjustments

1,991,7321,994,422Carrying amount of Group’s investment in the associate

As of December 31, 2021, the market value of the Group’s ownership interest in Al-Masaken is 
KD 1,540,000 (2020: KD 854,000).
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

9. Investment properties
The movement during the year was as follows:

Completed 
properties

Properties under 
construction

Total
2021

Total 
2020

Balance as at the beginning of 
the year 152,112,580 1,350,077 153,462,657 171,879,711

Additions - 172,449 172,449 1,975,576

Disposals (a) (354,072) - (354,072) (4,936,762)

Changes in fair value of 
investment properties 95,209 - 95,209 (15,374,114)

Foreign currency translation 
adjustments (648,994) - (648,994) (81,754)

Balance as at the end of the year 151,204,723 1,522,526 152,727,249 153,462,657

(a) During the year ended December 31, 
2021, the Group had sold certain investment 
properties with a carrying value of KD 354,072 
for an amount of KD 303,247 that resulted 
in a loss of KD 50,825 (2020: sold certain 
investment properties with a carrying value of 
KD 4,936,762 for an amount of KD 5,152,293 
that resulted in a gain of KD 215,531) (Note 
26). 

The fair value of the investment properties 
as at December 31, 2021 has been arrived 
at based on the valuation carried out by 
accredited external valuers. In estimating 
the fair value of investment properties, 
the sales comparison approach has been 
used, considering the nature and usage of 
the investment properties. The fair value 

measurement of investment properties have 
been categorized as level 2 fair value based 
on inputs to the valuation technique used.

Investment properties with a carrying value 
of KD 92,618,285 are pledged against term 
loans (Note 16) and KD 26,848,377 are 
pledged against Murabaha payable (Note 
17) (2020: KD 88,476,179 and KD 28,192,404 
respectively).

Management of the Group has complied with 
the Executive Regulations of Capital Markets 
Authority with respect to guidelines for 
valuation of investment properties.
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

11. Right-of-use assets
The Group leases several assets including land, buildings, motor vehicles and machinery and 
equipment used in operations. The average lease term is ranging from 1 to 5 years. Leased lands 
represent the Group’s right to use plots of land leased from the Public Authority for Industry - 
State of Kuwait. The leases in which the Group is the lessee do not contain any variable lease 
payment terms.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movement 
during the year:

 

Total

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Motor
VehichlesBuildingsLand

Gross carrying amount:
4,019,86923,50942,6764,955,067869,013As at December 31, 2020
120,758--239,489118,731Additions (Note 15)

(683,967)(42,619)(23,482)(488,446)(129,420)
Early termination of right-of-use 
assets (i)

(1,061)(57)(27)(276)(701)
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments

4,509,528--3,651,905857,623As at December 31, 2021

Accumulated amortization:
1,983,57696116,1781,602,300364,137As at December 31, 2020
1,076,0175,917-786,660283,440Charge for the year

(440,977)(6,877)(16,158)(331,753)(86,189)
Related to early termination of 
right-of-use assets (i)

(437)(1)(20)(124)(292)
Foreign currency translation 
adjustments

2,618,179--2,057,083561,096As at December 31, 2021

Net carrying amount:
1,891,349--1,594,822296,527As at December 31, 2021
2,971,49141,7157,3312,417,569504,876As at December 31, 2020



135
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(i) During the year, the Group had terminated leasehold land, buildings, motor vehicles and 
machinery and equipments agreements resulting in a reduction of right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities with a carrying amount of KD 242,990 (2020: KD 533,134) and KD 247,153 (2020: 
554,237) (Note 15) respectively resulting in a gain on lease termination amounting to KD 4,163 
(2020: KD 21,103) recognized in other income (Note 28).

12. Goodwill
The carrying value of goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis (or more frequently 
if evidence exists that goodwill might be impaired). The Group’s management has assessed the 
recoverable amount by valuating the underlying assets of the investees using external valuers. 
Based on the impairment test of goodwill performed, there was no indication of impairment for 
the year ended December 31, 2021. 

13. Due to banks
This represents overdraft facilities carrying an interest rate ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% (2020: 
1.5% to 2.5%) per annum over the Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate and is repayable on 
demand.

14. Accounts payable and other credit balances
20202021

14,034,49813,086,354Trade payables

1,985,5018,843,870Advances from customers 

1,774,9491,410,504Subcontractor’s and retention payables

1,714,4201,688,604Accrued staff leave

24,448-NLST payable

1,8711,871KFAS payable

Amortization charge for the year has been allocated as follows :

20202021

1,226,361937,969Operating costs

173,005138,048Consolidated statement of profit or loss

1,399,3661,076,017
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789,2491,198,062Provisions for lawsuits, projects and maintenance work

4,269,3243,520,261 Accrued expenses and other payables

24,594,26029,749,526

The classification of accounts payable and other credit balances according to their due dates 

for payments is as follows:

2021 2020

Current 27,318,780 20,783,970

Non-current 2,430,746 3,810,290

29,749,526 24,594,260

15. Lease liabilities

Minimum
lease payments 

 Present value of
 minimum lease

payments

2021 2020 2021 2020

Amounts payable relating to leases:

Within one year 1,134,755 1,096,315 1,025,840 1,010,456

Beyond one year 974,921 2,127,754 887,806 2,019,286

2,109,676 3,224,069 1,913,646 3,029,742

Less: unamortized future finance charge (196,030) (194,327) - -

Present value of minimum lease payments 1,913,646 3,029,742 1,913,646 3,029,742

The movement in the lease liabilities is as follows:

20202021

2,114,3583,029,742Balance as at the beginning of the year

2,791,281239,489Additions (Note 11)

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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(554,237)(247,153)Related to early termination of right-of-use assets (Note 11)

140,08497,644Add: finance charges on lease liabilities

(1,460,931)(1,205,445)Less: lease payments 

(813)(631)Foreign currency translation adjustments

3,029,7421,913,646Balance as at the end of the year

The average lease term is ranging from 1 to 5 (2020: 1 to 5) years and the average effective borrowing 
rate is ranging from 3.5% to 5.5% for the financial year ended December 31, 2021 (2020: 3.5% to 
5.5%).

 All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for additional 
contingent rental payments.

16. Term loans
Term loans carry an annual interest rate ranging from 1.25% to 2.50% (2020: ranging from 1.25% to 
2.50%) over the Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate.

Term loans are secured by pledge of the following first degree collaterals:
(i) 30,225,000 shares owned in ACC (subsidiary of the group) (Note 26).
(ii) Investment properties (Note 9).
(iii) Certain property, plant and equipment (Note 10).

The classification of term loans according to their due dates for payments is as follows:

2021 2020

Current 22,169,992 25,038,539

Non-current 175,963,920 174,825,606

198,133,912 199,864,145

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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17. Murabaha payable
2021 2020

Murabaha payable 57,068,190 59,843,508

Less: unamortized future finance charges (580,452) (608,680)

Present value of  Murabaha payable 56,487,738 59,234,828

The classification of Murabaha payable according to their due dates for payments is as follows:

2021 2020

Current 15,848,812 14,348,812

Non-current 40,638,926 44,886,016

56,487,738 59,234,828

The annual profit rate attributable to Murabaha payable is ranging from 1.5% to 1.75% (2020: 
ranging from 1.5% to 1.75%) over the Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate. 

Murabaha payable is secured by pledge of investment properties (Note 9).

18. Provision for end of service indemnity 

2021 2020

Balance as at the beginning of the year 4,045,985 4,069,054

Charge for the year 1,049,752 919,510

Paid during the year (689,409) (942,915)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,305) 336

Balance as at the end of the year 4,405,023 4,045,985

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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19. Share capital
The authorized, issued and paid-up capital comprises of 333,400,090 (2020: 333,400,090) 
shares of 100 fils each and all shares are paid in cash.

20. Share premium
This represents cash received in excess of the par value of the shares issued. The share premium 
is not available for distribution except in cases stipulated by law.

21. Statutory reserve
As required by the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% 
of the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company before 
contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of Director’s remuneration and after deducting 
accumulated losses is transferred to statutory reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to 
discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve exceeds 50% of the capital. This reserve 
is not available for distribution except for in certain cases stipulated by Law and the Parent 
Company’s Articles of Association. Since there is accumulated losses, there was no transfer 
to statutory reserve during the year. The Parent Company allotted an amount of KD 535,557 
(2020: KD 803,064) which is equivalent to the cost of purchasing treasury shares and is not 
available for distribution throughout the holding period of the treasury shares (Note 23).

22. Voluntary reserve
As required by the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year 
attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat 
and Board of Director’s remuneration and after deducting accumulated losses is transferred to 
voluntary reserve. Such transfer may be discontinued by a resolution at the Shareholder’s Annual 
General Assembly, upon recommendation by the Board of Directors. Since there is accumulated 
losses, the Board of Directors’ proposed not to transfer any amounts to voluntary reserve. This 
proposal is subject to the approval of the Shareholder’s Annual General Assembly.
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23. Treasury shares
2021 2020

Number of treasury shares 3,210,360 4,813,915

Percentage of ownership 0.96%  1.44%

Market value (KD) 446,240 432,771

Cost (KD) 535,557 803,064

The Parent Company’s management has allotted an amount, equal to treasury shares balance 
from the statutory reserve (Note 21) as at December 31, 2021. Such amount will not be available 
for distribution during the treasury shares holding period. Treasury shares are not pledged.

24. Operating revenue
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s major revenues.

2021 2020

Type of goods and services transferred at a point of time:

Industrial 64,886,107 46,567,914

Real estate (a) 950,869 5,941,366

65,836,976 52,509,280

Type of goods and services transferred over the period of 
time:

Contracting 9,156,000 5,789,166

74,992,976 58,298,446

(a) Real estate revenue includes the sale of certain properties held for trading with a carrying 
value of KD 385,139 for an amount of KD 797,111 that resulted in a gain of KD 411,972 (2020: sale 
of certain properties held for trading with a carrying value of KD 3,727,575 for an amount of KD 
4,603,915 that resulted in a gain of KD 876,340) (Note 7).

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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25. Staff costs
Staff costs have been allocated as follows:

2021 2020

Operating costs 7,181,074 6,643,509

General and administrative expenses 4,572,685 4,578,592

11,753,759 11,222,101

26. Net real estate revenue
2021 2020

(Loss) gain on sale of investment properties (Note 9) (50,825) 215,531

Net rental revenue 4,369,938 2,462,102

4,319,113 2,677,633

27. Net provisions charged
2021 2020

Allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables (Note 4) (108,925) (937,303)

Allowance for ECL on due from related parties (Note 32) (51,203) (146,058)

Provision for slow-moving inventories (Note 6) (358,997) (57,630)

Allowance for ECL on projects (1,051,797) (546,828)

Total provisions charged during the year (1,570,922) (1,687,819)



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

142

Allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables no longer 
required (Note 4) 659,318 543,165

Allowance for ECL on due from related parties no longer 
required (Note 32) 253,015 -

Provision for slow-moving no longer required inventories 
(Note 6) - 44,182

Allowance for ECL on projects no longer required 642,255 740,282

Total provisions no longer required during the year 1,554,588 1,327,629

(16,334) (360,190)

28. Other income

2021 2020

Interest income on bank deposits 11,498 20,826

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 76,625 9,210

Gain on early termination of right-of-use assets (Note 11) 4,163 21,103

Raw material sales 86,709 123,869

Insurance claim recovery - 201,171

Miscellaneous income 585,302 452,488

764,297 828,667

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(



143

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

29. General assembly, cash dividends and Board of 
Director’s remuneration. 
The Board of Director’s meeting held on March 29, 2022 proposed 

(i) Not to distribute cash dividends, 
(ii) Not to distribute board of Director’s remuneration for the financial year ended December 31, 
2021.

These proposals are subject to the approval of the Shareholder’s Annual General Assembly. 

The Shareholders’ Annual General Assembly held on May  30, 2021 approved the following: 

(1) The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2020,
(2) Not to distribute cash dividends for the financial year ended December 31, 2020,
(3) Not to distribute Board of Directors’ remuneration for the financial year ended December 
31, 2020. 

30. Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to 
shareholders of the Parent Company 
There are no potential dilutive ordinary shares. Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 
attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company is computed by dividing the profit (loss) 
for the year attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the year:

20202021

(28,710,353)205,219
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to shareholders of the 
Parent Company

SharesShares
333,400,090333,400,090Number of issued shares at the beginning of the year
(3,477,710)(3,650,836)Less: weighted average number of treasury shares

329,922,380329,749,254
Weighted average number of shares outstanding at the 
end of the year

FillsFills

(87.02)0.62
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to 
shareholders of the Parent Company



ACICO |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

144

As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share 
attributable to shareholders of the Parent Company are identical.

31. Principal subsidiaries with major non-controlling interests 
(‘NCI’) 

Country of 

incorporation

Principal
activities

Ownership interests 
held by the NCI

Carrying value of non-
controlling interests in 

the subsidiary
Name of subsidiary 2021 2020 2021 2020
ACICO Construction 
Company K.S.C. (Closed) 
(i)

State 
of 

Kuwait

Concrete 
constructions 

and 
contracting 29.30% 29.30% 14,524,352 14,628,235

Al Masaken United Real 
Estate Company K.S.C. 
(Closed) (ii)

State 
of 

Kuwait

Real 
estate and 

Investments 13.70% 13.70% 1,543,283 2,878,756

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

Summarized financial information of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests which are 
material to the Group are as follows:

(1)  ACICO Construction Company K.S.C.C.

Summarized consolidated statement of financial position:

2021 2020
Current assets 76,253,293 76,008,636
Current liabilities (39,363,838) (50,498,583)
Net current assets 36,889,455 25,510,053

Non-current assets 96,318,210 97,576,960
Non-current liabilities (83,636,498) (73,161,297)
Net non-current assets 12,681,712 24,415,663
Net assets 49,571,167 49,925,716
Net assets attributable to shareholders of the Parent 
Company

35,046,815 35,297,481

Net assets attributable to NCI 14,524,352 14,628,235
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Summarized consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

2021 2020
Revenue 54,403,711 40,642,785

Net loss for the year (335,988) (3,040,001)

Other comprehsensive (loss) income (17,637) 205,956

Total comprehensive loss for the year (353,625) (2,834,045)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to shareholders of 
the Parent Company

(250,013) (2,003,670)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to NCI (103,612) (830,375)

(2) Al Masaken United Real Estate Company K.S.C.C.

Summarized consolidated statement of financial position:

2021 2020
Current assets 5,076,763 14,542,712
Current liabilities (513,718) (543,490)
Net current assets 4,563,045 13,999,222

Non-current assets 6,719,545 7,029,746
Non-current liabilities (18,086) (16,151)
Net non-current assets 6,701,459 7,013,595
Net assets 11,264,504 21,012,817
Net assets attributable to shareholders of the Parent 
Company

9,721,221 18,134,061

Net assets attributable to NCI 1,543,283 2,878,756
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Summarized consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

2021 2020
Revenue 1,094,406 5,396,532

Net profit (loss) for the year 278,786 (46,243)

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (26,760) 39,461

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 252,026 (6,782)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to 
shareholders of Parent Company

217,498 (5,853)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to NCI 34,528 (929)

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

32. Related party disclosures
The Group has entered into various transactions with related parties, i.e. Major shareholders, 
Board of Directors, Key management personnel, Associates and Other related parties. Prices 
and terms of payment are approved by the Group’s management. Significant related parties’ 
balances and transactions are as follows:

20202021
Other related 

parties
Major 

shareholders

(i)Balances included in the 
   consolidated statement of 
   financial position:

6,101,993 7,059,7475,907,3951,152,352Due from related parties

(1,865,590)(1,662,716)(1,651,192)(11,524)
Allowance for expected credit 
losses (ECL) (a)

4,236,4035,397,0314,256,2031,140,828

111,443 70,39870,398-Due to related parties
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(1) The movement in the allowance for ECL on due from related parties was as follows: 

2021 2020

Balance as at the beginning of the year 1,865,590 2,491,600

Charge during the year (Note 27) 51,203 146,058

Allowance for ECL no longer required (Note 27) (253,015) -

Utilized during the year - (772,372)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,062) 304

Balance as at the end of the year 1,662,716 1,865,590

Due from and due to related parties are non-interest bearing and do not have specific due dates.

(ii) Key management personnel: 2021 2020

Salaries and other short-term benefits 284,625 282,650

Termination benefits 15,859 18,109
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33. Contingent liabilities and legal cases
(a) The Group was contingently liable in respect of the following:

2021 2020

Letters of guarantee 4,313,202 5,341,692

Letters of credit 3,611,185 16,576,658

7,924,387 21,918,350

(b)  The Group’s outstanding legal cases as of 
the date of the consolidated statement of 
financial position were as follows:

(i) On July 28, 2013, Kele Contracting L.L.C 
(“Plaintiff ”) filed a legal case through case 
No. 1252/2013 “Commercial”, against ACICO 
Industries Company – Dubai branch (currently) 
(“Defendant”) to follow up the amounts due 
to Kele from ACICO Industries and requesting 
the defendant to pay an amount of AED 
68,252,151 in addition to the legal interest of 
9% per annum.

On November 27, 2013, the “First Instance 
Court” in Dubai issued its verdict in the 
case No. 1252/2013 by the lack of the court 
jurisdiction to judge the legal case. During 
the year 2018, the plaintiff filed another 
legal case by the same requirements through 
Case No. 321/2018 and on February 26, 
2020, the “First Instance Court” issued its 
verdict in favor of the plaintiff by obligating 
the defendant to pay an amount of AED 
62,126,172 in addition to the legal interest of 
9% per annum from the due date on May 30, 
2010 until full payment.

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

The defendant appealed against the verdict 
under appeal No. 900/916 for the year 2020 
and on December 16, 2020, the “Court of 
Cassation” issued its verdict in favor of the 
defendant by transferring the legal case 
to the “Court of Cassation” to be ruled by 
another judges.

On May 5, 2021, the “Court of Cassation” 
issued its verdict on the appeal No. 447/2021 
by the lack of the court jurisdiction to judge on 
the filed appeal against the issued court ruling 
in legal case No. 1252/2013 and obligating the 
Plaintiff to pay the related charges, lawyers’ 
fees of AED 1,000 and to refund the insurance 
amount.

Upon issuance of the verdict on the appeal 
No. 447/2021, the Defendant submitted 
a request for suspension of the execution 
order No. 6343/2020 filed by the Plaintiff on 
December 21, 2020.

On June 2, 2021, the execution judge resolved 
to cancel the execution proceedings and 
dismissed the case in light of the issued ruling 
on the appeal No. 447/2021.

Consequently, the Group has written back 
KD 1,308,309 as provision for legal claim no 
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longer required in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 
2021. The (“Plaintiff ”) filed a new legal case with same subject with another court in the Dubai 
Courts.

(ii) In addition to the above, there are legal cases being raised by and against the Group as 
at December 31, 2021. According to the available information, it was not possible to assess 
probable outflows which could result from those cases until a final verdict is rendered by the 
court. Accordingly, no provision for any liability has been made in these consolidated financial 
statements in relation to these legal cases.
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34. Segmental reporting
Management monitors the operating results of its segments separately for the purpose 
of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment 
performance is evaluated based on operating consolidated statement of income as explained 
below:

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment.

• Industrial operations: Consist majorly of manufacturing and production of blocks, 
reinforcement, lintels and various types of concrete products.

• Real estate operations: Consists of real estate activities majorly selling and buying of lands 
and real estate provided by the subsidiaries.

• Contracting operations: Consist of contracting activities majorly constructions of villas and 
other projects provided by the subsidiaries.     

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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35. Financial risk management
In the normal course of business, the Group uses primary financial instruments such as 
cash and short-term funds, accounts receivable and other debit balances (except advance 
payments and prepaid expenses), financial assets at FVOCI, due from (to) related parties, due 
to banks, accounts payable and other credit balances (except advances from customers), lease 
liabilities, term loans and Murabaha payable, and as a result, is exposed to the risks indicated 
below. The Group currently does not use derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to these risks.
a) Interest rate (finance cost) risk

Financial instruments are subject to the risk of changes in value due to changes in the level of 
interest rates (finance cost rate) for its financial assets and liabilities carrying floating interest 
rates (finance cost rates). The effective interest rates (finance cost rates) and the periods in 
which interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities are repriced or matured are indicated in 
the respective notes.

The Group’s short-term deposits and term deposits are carrying fixed interest rates; accordingly, 
they are not exposed to interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit (loss) (through the impact on 
floating rate borrowings).

Effect on 
consolidated 
statement of 
profit or loss

Balance as at
December 31 

Increase / 
(decrease) in 
interest rateYear

2021
± 49,0369,807,138± 0.5 %Due to banks
± 990,670198,133,912± 0.5 %Term loans
± 282,43956,487,738± 0.5 %Murabaha payable

2020

± 49,782 9,956,374± 0.5 %Due to banks

± 999,321199,864,145± 0.5 %Term loans

± 296,17459,234,828± 0.5 %Murabaha payable

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a 
financial instrument will fail to discharge 
an obligation causing the other party to 
incur a financial loss. Financial assets which 
potentially subject the Group to credit risk 
consist principally of cash and short-term 
funds, receivables and due from related 
parties. Receivables and due from related 
parties are presented net of allowance 
for expected credit losses. Credit risk with 
respect to receivables is limited due to 
the large number of customers and their 
dispersion across different industries.

Cash and short-term funds 

The Group’s cash and short term - funds 
measured at amortized cost are considered 
to have a low credit risk and the loss 
allowance is based on the 12 months 
expected loss. The Group’s cash and short-
term funds are placed with high credit 
rating financial institutions with no recent 
history of default. Based on management’s 
assessment, the expected credit loss 
impact arising from such financial assets 
are insignificant to the Group as the risk of 
default has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition

Trade receivables 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is 
influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each customer. The 
demographics of the Group’s customer base, 
including the default risk of the industry and 
country, in which customers operate, has less 
of an influence on credit risk.

Customer credit risk is managed by each 
business unit subject to the Group’s 
established policy, procedures and control 
relating to customer credit risk management. 
Outstanding customer receivables are 
regularly monitored and any shipments to 
major customers are generally covered by 
letters of credit or other forms of credit 
insurance obtained from reputable banks 
and other financial institutions.

The Group’s maximum exposure arising from 
default of the counter-party is limited to 
the carrying amount of cash and short-term 
funds, accounts receivable and due from 
related parties.

c) Foreign currency risk

The Group incurs foreign currency risk 
on transactions that are denominated in 
a currency other than the Kuwaiti Dinar. 
The Group may reduce its exposure to 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates 
through the use of derivative financial 
instruments. The Group ensures that the net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level, by 
dealing in currencies that do not fluctuate 
significantly against the Kuwaiti Dinar. 

The following table demonstrates the 
sensitivity to a reasonably possible change 
in the foreign exchange between other 
currencies and Kuwaiti Dinar.
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Effect on 
consolidated 

comprehensive 
income

Effect on consolidated 
statement of profit or 

loss

Increase / 
(decrease) against 

KDCurrency

2021
± 1,165,668± 161,166± 5 %UAE Dirham
± 327,644± 13,245± 5 %Saudi Riyal
± 227,866± 16,781± 5 %Qatari Riyal
± 47,644± 3,036± 5 %South Africa Rand
± 43,510± 404± 5 %EURO

2020

± 249,813 ± 15,336± 5 %UAE Dirham

± 102,207± 8,982± 5 %Saudi Riyal

± 211,641± 29,246± 5 %Qatari Riyal

± 60,758± 26,710± 5 %South Africa Rand

± 52,459± 4,408± 5 %EURO

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

• Monitoring statement of financial 
position liquidity ratios against internal and 
regulatory requirements; and

• Managing the concentration and profile of 
debt maturities. 

The table below summarizes the maturity 
profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. 
The maturities of assets and liabilities have 
been determined according to when they 
are expected to be recovered or settled. 
The maturity profile for financial assets at 
FVOCI, investment properties and inventory 
properties is based on management’s 
estimate of liquidation of those assets.

d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will 
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial 
instruments. To manage this risk, the Group 
periodically assesses the financial viability 
of customers and invests in the investments 
that are readily realizable. 

Liquidity risk management process

The Group’s liquidity management process, 
as carried out within the Group includes:

• Day-to-day funding, managed by 
monitoring future cash flows to ensure that 
requirements can be met;
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2021
1 - 3 
months

3 - 12
months

1 - 5 
years

Total

Assets
Cash and short-term funds 8,484,228 420,000 - 8,904,228
Accounts receivable and other 
debit balances

18,491,419 3,499,219 2,946,441 24,937,079

Contract assets - 94,099 - 94,099
Due from related parties - 5,397,031 - 5,397,031
Inventories 15,913,778 9,596,365 - 25,510,143
Properties held for trading - 945,244 - 945,244
Financial assets at FVOCI - - 695,361 695,361
Investment in associates - - 1,994,422 1,994,422
Investment properties - - 152,727,249 152,727,249
Property, plant and equipment - - 145,504,614 145,504,614
Right-of-use assets - - 1,891,349 1,891,349
Goodwill - - 26,812,951 26,812,951

42,889,425 19,951,958 332,572,387 395,413,770
Liabilities
Due to banks - 9,807,138 - 9,807,138

Accounts payable and other 
credit balances 14,635,620 12,683,160 2,430,746

29,749,526

Dividends payable to 
shareholders

- 1,962,534 - 1,962,534

Contract liabilities - 1,741,072 - 1,741,072

Due to related parties - 70,398 70,398

Lease liabilities - 1,025,840 887,806 1,913,646

Term loans - 22,169,992 175,963,920 198,133,912

Murabaha payable - 15,848,812 40,638,926 56,487,738

Provision for end of service 
indemnity -

- 4,405,023 4,405,023

14,635,620 65,238,548 224,396,819 304,270,987

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities as at December 31 was as follows:
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2020
1 - 3 
months

3 - 12 
months

1 - 5
years

Total

Assets
Cash and short-term funds 6,935,098 420,000 - 7,355,098
Accounts receivable and other 
debit balances

14,374,959 4,015,197 3,099,366 21,489,522

Contract assets - 86,693 - 86,693
Due from related parties - 4,236,403 - 4,236,403
Inventories 13,383,414 17,310,370 - 30,693,784
Properties held for trading - 1,332,547 - 1,332,547
Financial assets at FVOCI - - 683,767 683,767
Investment in associates - - 1,991,732 1,991,732
Investment properties - - 153,462,657 153,462,657
Property, plant and equipment - - 145,692,507 145,692,507
Right-of-use assets - - 2,971,491 2,971,491
Goodwill - - 26,812,951 26,812,951

34,693,471 27,401,210 334,714,471 396,809,152
Liabilities
Due to banks - 9,956,374 - 9,956,374

Accounts payable and other 
credit balances 13,150,115 7,633,855 3,810,290

24,594,260

Dividends payable to 
shareholders

- 2,009,346 - 2,009,346

Contract liabilities - 1,431,893 - 1,431,893

Due to related parties - - 111,443 111,443

Lease liabilities - 1,010,456 2,019,286 3,029,742

Term loans - 25,038,539 174,825,606 199,864,145

Murabaha payable - 14,348,812 44,886,016 59,234,828

Provision for end of service 
indemnity -

- 4,045,985 4,045,985

13,150,115 61,429,275 229,698,626 304,278,016
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e) Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in level 
of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. As December 31, 2021, the Group has no 
exposure to such risk.

36. Fair value measurement 
The Group measures financial assets such as financial assets at FVOCI and non-financial assets 
such as investment properties at fair value at each reporting period.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

All financial instruments for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based 
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

The fair value measure of financial assets at FVOCI has been categorized as Level 3 fair value 
based on inputs to the valuation techniques used.

During the year there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by 

ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(
re-assessing categorisation based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole at the end of each reporting period. 

The fair values as cash and short-term funds, accounts receivable and other debit balances 
(except advance payments and prepaid expenses), due from (to) related parties, due to banks, 
accounts payable and other credit balances (except advances from customers), lease liabilities, 
term loans and Murabaha payable approximate their carrying amounts  largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The basis of the valuation of investment properties is fair value. The investment properties are 
revalued annually based on accredited external valuers having experience in the location and 
category of investment properties being valued. Valuations are based on current prices in an 
active market for similar properties of the same location and condition, subject to similar leases 
and takes into consideration occupancy rates and returns on investment. The fair value details 
of the investment properties is mentioned in Note 9.

37. Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital resources are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital resources structure, the Group may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders, return paid up capital to shareholders, issue new shares, sell 
assets to reduce debt, repay loans or obtain additional loans.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings less cash and short-term funds. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.
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ACICO INDUSTRIES COMPANY - K.S.C. (PUBLIC) AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2021
)All amounts are in Kuwaiti Dinars(

38. Going concern
As at December 31, 2021, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by KD 
17,032,785 (2020: KD 12,484,709) and as of that date, the Group’s accumulated losses amounted 
to KD 8,788,945 (2020: KD 8,994,164). The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared assuming the Group will continue as a going concern, which assumes that the Group 
will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern depends on its ability to improve profitability and 
enhance its future cash flows.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the bank facilities increased by the amount of KD 
27,879,673 and also the Group paid KD 32,356,996 out of its outstanding bank facilities. 
Subsequent to the consolidated financial statements date, the Group restructured certain 
loans amounting to KD 113,636,072 which has an impact on the working capital with an increase 
of KD 5,265,000. The Group is currently working on restructuring the other loans.

In the opinion of the Group’s management, the financial institutions will continue to provide and 
renew credit facilities due to the Group’s asset quality and realized profits each financial year in 
addition to the Group’s ability to distribute annual cash dividends to the shareholders. 

For the purpose of capital risk management, the total capital resources consist of the following 
components:

2021 2020
Due to banks 9,807,138 9,956,374

Lease liabilities 1,913,646 3,029,742

Term loans 198,133,912 199,864,145

Murabaha payable 56,487,738 59,234,828

Less: cash and short-term funds (8,904,228) (7,355,098)

Net debt 257,438,206 264,729,991

Total equity 91,142,783 92,531,136

Total capital resources 348,580,989 357,261,127

Gearing ratio 73.85% 74.10%
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39. Impact of Covid-19
The existence of novel corona virus was confirmed in early 2020 and has spread globally, 
causing disruptions to businesses and economic activity. In light of the rapid spread of 
COVID-19 across the globe, various economies and sectors have faced significant disruptions 
and uncertainty as a result of measures taken by governments to contain or delay the spread 
of the virus. As of to date, the actual scope of the impact is very difficult to measure.

(1) Recoverability of receivables

The COVID-19 outbreak led to a significant increase in the credit risk of companies within the 
economy as a result of operational disruption. Based on the management, the Group has not 
identified a material impact to the recoverability of receivables for the year ended December 
31, 2021.
(2) Fair value of non-financial assets

COVID-19 outbreak led to significant market turmoil and price volatility on the global markets. 
The Group is closely monitoring whether the fair values of the non- financial assets represent 
the price that would be achieved for transactions between market participants in the current 
scenario.

Based on the management, the Group has not identified a material impact to the fair values of 
non financial assets for the year ended December 31, 2021 except for what is disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements under investment properties.
(3) Liquidity risk management

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Group is closely evaluating its liquidity and funding 
position and taking appropriate actions. The Group will continue to assess its liquidity position by 
closely monitoring its cash flows and forecasts. An analysis of maturities of assets and liabilities 
is disclosed in (Note 35-d). 
(4) Going concern  

The Group’s assessment of whether it is a going concern in light of current economic conditions 
and all available information about future risks and uncertainties is disclosed in detail in (Note 
38). 

The existing and anticipated effects of the outbreak of COVID-19 on the global economy and 
financial markets is expected to continue to evolve. The scale and duration of these developments 
remain uncertain at this stage but could negatively impact the Group’s financial performance, 
cash flows and financial position in the future. The Group will continue to monitor the market 
outlook and update its assumptions, and forecasts as that may have a substantial impact on the 
consolidated financial statements in the future.
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